Från:

Institutionen för Laboratorie Medicin

Medicinska fakulteten, Lunds Universitet

Galectin binding proteins in serum and bronchoalveolar lavage

-in healthy and pathological conditions

av Cecilia Cederfur



LUNDS UNIVERSITET Medicinska fakulteten

Akademisk avhandling

Som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska Fakulteten vid Lunds Universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neurocentrum, BMC, Sölvegatan 17, Lund, lördagen den 31 maj 2008, klockan 9.00.

> Fakultetsopponent: Professor Peter Påhlsson Institutionen för Biomedicin och Kirurgi, Linköpings Universitet

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION			
Department of Laboratory Medicine Section of Microbiology, Immunology and	Date of issue 2008-05-31			
Glycobiology Sölvegatan 23, 22362 Lund, Sweden.	Sponsoring organization			
Author(s)	-			
Cecilia Cederfur				
Title and subtitle		,		
Galectin binding proteins in serum and bronch	10alveolar lavage -in healthy a	nd pathological conditions		
Abstract				
been implicated in mechanisms of both chronic inflammation and cancer, we have investigated natural binding partners of galectins in healthy individuals and then continued with studying states of cancer and chronic inflammation. We identified galectin binding glycoproteins in sera from healthy individuals and found that galectins widely expressed in the body bind serum glycoproteins well, whereas galectins with a more tissue- specific distribution scarcely binds any serum glycoproteins. We then chose the widely expressed but intermediately binding galectin-1 to detect if levels of galectin-1-binding proteins are increased in sera of breast cancer patients. We found that galectin-1 binds approximately double the amount in breast cancer patients compared to healthy individuals. The increase was mainly caused by haptoglobin, probably due to both increased expression and changes of glycosylation. To further investigate the inflammatory connection we identified galectin binding proteins from bronchoalveolar lavage of asthma patients and healthy individuals, additionally we compared the binding of galectin-8 that are expressed in different sites of the lung. We found when functionally grouping the bound proteins that galectin-3 and -8 binding proteins had different profiles and that bound proteins of healthy and asthma patients differed.				
Key words: Galectins, Galectin binding protein, C	Ilycoproteins, Serum, Plasma,	BAL.		
Classification system and/or index termes (if any):				
Supplementary bibliographical information:		Language		
		English		
ISSN and key title:		ISBN		
1652-8220		978-91-86059-21-7		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price		
	Security classification	1		
	1			

Distribution by (name and address)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

. 0 7 à Signature a

2008-04-28 Date____

Cecilia Cederfur

Galectin binding proteins in serum and bronchoalveolar lavage

-in healthy and pathological conditions

Department of Laboratory Medicine

Section of Microbiology, Immunology and Glycobiology

Lund University, 2008



LUNDS UNIVERSITET Medicinska fakulteten

© Cecilia Cederfur ISSN 1652-8220 ISBN 978-91-86059-21-7 Printed by Media-Tryck, Lund 2008

What is a scientist after all?

It is a curious man looking through a keyhole, the keyhole of nature,

trying to know what's going on.

Jacques Yves Costeau

ABSTRACT

Galectins are carbohydrate binding proteins, implicated in conditions of both inflammation and cancer. Connections between chronic inflammation and cancer are proposed by the increased remodelling and proliferation that occurs, leading to enhanced survival and proliferation of malignant cells. Since galectins have been implicated in mechanisms of both chronic inflammation and cancer, we have investigated natural binding partners of galectins in healthy individuals and then continued with studying states of cancer and chronic inflammation. We identified galectin binding glycoproteins in sera from healthy individuals and found that galectins widely expressed in the body bind serum glycoproteins well, whereas galectins with a more tissue-specific distribution scarcely binds any serum glycoproteins. We then chose the widely expressed but intermediately binding galectin-1 to detect if levels of galectin-1-binding proteins are increased in sera of breast cancer patients. We found that galectin-1 binds approximately double the amount in breast cancer patients compared to healthy individuals. The increase was mainly caused by haptoglobin, probably due to both increased expression and changes of glycosylation.

To further investigate the inflammatory connection we identified galectin binding proteins from bronchoalveolar lavage of asthma patients and healthy individuals, additionally we compared the binding of galectin-3 and galectin-8 that are expressed in different sites of the lung. We found when functionally grouping the bound proteins that galectin-3 and -8 binding proteins had different profiles and that bound proteins of healthy and asthma patients differed.

LIST OF PAPERS¹

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to in the text by their roman numerals.

- I Cecilia Cederfur, Emma Salomonsson, Jonas Nilsson, Adnan Halim,
 Christopher Öberg, Göran Larson, Ulf Nilsson, Hakon Leffler. Different affinity
 of galectins for human serum glycoproteins: galectin-3 binds many protease
 inhibitors and acute phase proteins, *Glycobiology*, 2008 May;18(5):384-94.
- II Cecilia Cederfur, Mårten Fernö, Håkan Olsson and Hakon Leffler. Large increase of galectin-1-binding serum glycoproteins in breast cancer patients. Manuscript.
- III Cecilia Cederfur, Johan Malmström, Kristian Nihlberg, Leif Bjermer, Gunilla
 Westergren-Thorsson and Hakon Leffler. Identification of galectin-3 and -8
 ligands in bronchoalveolar lavage of mild asthmatics and healthy subjects.
 Manuscript.

¹Reprint was made with permission of Oxford University Press.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	7
LIST OF PAPERS	9
NON-STANDARD ABBREVIATIONS	13
INTRODUCTION	15
Reading the "glyco-code"	15
BACKGROUND	18
Introduction to galectins	18
Physiological roles of galectins	18
Galectin expression	20
Galectin-carbohydrate interactions	23
The protein glycosylation machinery	24
N-linked glycans	25
O-linked glycans	29
Glycolipids	30
Galectins and glycoproteins	31
Serum proteins	32
Examples of galectin binding serum glycoproteins	38
Galectins and inflammation	39
General mechanisms of inflammation and development of chronic inflammation.	40
Asthma	43
Chronic inflammation, cancer and galectins	46
Chronic inflammation supports cancer	40
Changes of glycosylation in cancer Reported roles of galacting	4/ 17
	/ 1
PKESEN1 INVESTIGATION	49
	49
Identification of serum glycoproteins from healthy persons that interact with galecting	ns
(Paper 1)	49
Galecun-1 binas more giycoproteins from sera of cancer patients compared to nearth individuals (naner II)	iy 50
Identification of galectin-3 and -8 ligands in bronchoalveolar layage (namer III)	50 51
Analysing bronchoalyzolar layage (BAL)	51
Affinity chromatography	<u>52</u> 53
Mass spectrometry	
DISCUSSION	55
POPULARVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING	61
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	63
REFERENCES	65

NON-STANDARD ABBREVIATIONS

CRD	carbohydrate recognition domain
APP	acute phase protein
AGP	alpha1-acid glycoprotein
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
IL	interleukin
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TGF	transformed growth factor
MS	mass spectrometry

INTRODUCTION

Reading the "glyco-code"

Cells in the body use various "labels" (tags) to communicate with other cells and also to direct their own building blocks within the cells. One type of such "label" is made of complex carbohydrates, attached to proteins (in glycoproteins) or lipids (in glycolipids) (Fig. 1). Complex carbohydrates are made of monosaccharide strings of different types and linked to each other in different ways, and can thus provide a rich library of specific labels for the cells to use. There are many well known examples where this occurs. For example, carbohydrates determine how certain proteins find their correct destination within a cell, how white blood cells find their correct way around the body, and how virus (such as influenza) and bacteria bind to host-cells, and they also mark part of our individuality as blood group antigens (1-4). To read the carbohydrate "labels", the cell uses carbohydrate binding proteins, so called lectins that bind specific motifs within the carbohydrate strings. One class of these are the galectins (5, 6) which are the topic of this thesis. The galectins recognize the monosaccharide galactose (white ring in Fig. 1), but their binding also depends on the adjacent sugar residues.

It is still unclear how galectins read natural carbohydrate "labels", what the biological function of this is, and how this can be used in medical practice. In this thesis these questions are addressed by the study of which serum glycoproteins are bound by different galectins. Focusing on these questions, serum provides a complex mixture of well characterized natural glycoproteins which the ability of galectins to read carbohydrate "labels" can be studied against. Serum also provides a source of functionally relevant galectin ligands. Detection of galectin ligands in serum may provide a useful tool in diagnosis of

INTRODUCTION

disease which is focused on in this thesis by the study of galectin ligands in sera of breast cancer patients. The study is extended to another bio-fluid: airway secretions obtained as bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) where the aim of the thesis is further focused on the biological mechanism of galectins in the inflammatory pathology.

As background, the galectins are first introduced, the main type of glycoproteins found in humans, and how they interact. An overview is given of the constituents of human serum and some examples of bound glycoproteins. Since the studies were compared to both conditions of cancer and chronic inflammation a brief overview will be given over these large areas together with implicated roles of galectins.

INTRODUCTION





A) Examples of cellular functions that involve binding of galectin-3 to a carbohydrate "label".
B) More details at the glycoprotein level, with schematic glycans and recognition by galectin-3. Different monosaccharide residues are shown schematically according to the recommendation of Consortium for Functional Glycomics.

Introduction to galectins

The galectins are small soluble proteins, defined by a carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) and a conserved sequence motif ($\underline{6}$). There are about 15 galectins, some, such as galectin-1, -3, -8 and -9 are widely distributed in many cell types, whereas others like galectin-2, -4 and -7, have a much more restricted distribution (7-11) (Fig. 2).



Fig 2. The major conserved mammalian galectins, and their phylogeny in vertabrates. All galectins have CRDs of either of two types (here shown as black or grey) and can be either mono-, or bi CRD galectins. The two types of CRDs are defined by intronexon boundaries and supported sequence relationship.

Physiological roles of galectins

On the cellular level galectins are involved in mechanisms both inside the cell and extracellularly. Galectins have been proposed to play important roles in inflammation, immunity and cancer based on whole animal experiments and by

their effects in tissue culture (12-17). Intracellularly, galectins are found in the cytosol and nucleus where they are involved in targeting exocytosis, cell activation and differentiation (18-20). Galectins are also secreted by different cells via the non-classical pathway and can attach to sugar structures on e.g. glycoproteins on the cell surface (21) on the secreting cell itself or other cells in the vicinity. There they crosslink glycoproteins and perhaps glycolipids and form lattices on the cell surface that are believed to activate receptors and mediate signalling to the inside of the cell (7, 22-24) (Fig. 3). By binding preferably N-glycosylated proteins that may reside in solution as serum proteins (25, 26) or on the cell surface, galectins modulate cell adhesion (27, 28) and can extend the time glycoproteins as the EGF receptor stay on the cell surface (29, 30). Functions are being specific in some cases, but also general between galectins in others (14, 15). It has become evident that protein-carbohydrate interactions are important in the communication between cells and with the extracellular matrix, as well as communication within the cell (2). There is, however only little knowledge on how natural ligand binding and effects are related to galectin fine specificity (13, 31-37).



Fig. 3. Functional relevance of galectin-glycoprotein lattices. Representation of different monomeric and oligomeric members of the galectin family in galectin-glycoprotein lattices, showing galectin-glycoprotein interactions at the cell surface and possible biological effects. Figure adapted from (38).

Galectin expression

Some of the galectins are widely expressed in the body whereas others are only expressed in distinct compartments (Table 1). Within the immune system, galectins are found in activated macrophages, activated B cells, dendritic cells and activated T cells (20, 39-42). Endothelial cells express several galectins (43).

Galectin-1 is expressed in human cultured endothelial cells, in aorta, umbilical vein and pulmonary artery, in vivo it was found in activated lymphoid tissue but not in resting lymph nodes (<u>44</u>). Galectin-3 expression has been observed in epithelial cells, macrophages, fibroblasts and activated T-cells (<u>45</u>). In endothelium it was found in e.g. dermal microvasculature and in cultured

cells it is expressed by endothelial cells originating from human umbilical veins (HUVECs). Galectin-9, was originally identified as an eosinophil specific chemoattractant (<u>46</u>) and is also expressed in cultured cells as HUVECs (<u>8, 9, 44</u>). Galectin-8 is expressed in lung (<u>47</u>) both in basal cells, ciliated bronchial cells, chondrocytes, serous cells of the bronchial glands, smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells (<u>48</u>).

Table 1. Localisation and function of the different galectins. The table gives examples of the many functions and the wide distribution of galectins (39, 49-51).

Galectin	Localization	Functions and other characteristics
Gal-1	Abundant in most	Non covalent homodimer
	organs, e.g. lymph	* Induces apoptosis of activated T-cells and
	nodes, spleen,	immature thymocytes.
	thymus, placenta,	* Induces a Th2 immune response.
	macrophages, B-	* Modulates cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions.
	cells, T-cells.	* Inhibits acute inflammation.
Gal-2	Stomach epithelial	Non covalent homodimer
	cells	* Expressed at minor levels in epithelial cells.
Gal-3	Macrophages,	Chimera type galectin (non-lectin domain coupled to the
	epithelial cells,	CRD)
	fibroblasts and	* Antiapoptotic and proinflammatory functions.
	activated T-cells.	* Modulates cell adhesion and migration.
		* Induces chemotaxis of monocytes.
		* Potentiates pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion.
		* Inhibits nitric oxide-induced apoptosis and anoikis
		(loss of cell attachment).
Gal-4	Gastrointestinal tract	Composed of two distinct CRDs linked by a polypeptide
		chain
Gal-5	Erythrocytes	Prototype galectin, monomer
Gal-6	Gastrointestinal tract	Composed of two distinct CRDs linked by a polypeptide
		chain
		* Similar to galectin-4

Gal-7	Skin	Prototype galectin, monomer				
		* Used as a marker for stratified epithelium.				
Gal-8	Liver, kidney,	Composed of two distinct CRDs linked by a polypeptide				
	cardiac muscle,	chain				
	prostate and brain.	* Modulates integrin interactions with the				
		extracellular matrix.				
Gal-9	Thymus, T-cells and	Composed of two distinct CRDs linked by a polypeptide				
	kidney.	chain				
		* Induces eosinophil chemotaxis.				
		* Induces apoptosis of murine thymocytes.				
Gal-10	Eosinophils and	Prototype galectin, monomer				
	basophils	* Mainly expressed by eosinophils				
		* Forming the Charcot-leyden crystals				
Gal-11	Lens	Non covalent homodimers				
		* Also called GRIFIN				
		* May represent a new lens crystalline.				
		* Lacks affinity for β -galactoside sugars.				
Gal-12	Adipocytes	Composed of two distinct CRDs linked by a polypeptide				
		chain				
		* Induces apoptosis and cell cycle arrest.				
Gal-13	Human placenta	Similar to prototype galectins				
		* Also known as PP-13.				
Gal-14	Eosinophils	Prototype galectin				
Gal-15	Endometrial	Contains a conserved carbohydrate recognition domain				
	epithelium	and a separate putative integrin binding domain.				

Some members of the galectin family have also received individual names according to their functions, localization or biochemical properties, including galectin-1 (L-14, bovine heart lectin or galaptin), galectin-3 (Mac-2, L-29, CBP-35 or &BP for 'IgE-binding protein'), galectin-9 (ecalectin), galectin-10 (Charcot-Leyden crystal eosinophil protein), galectin-11 (GRIFIN for galectin-related interfiber protein) and galectin-13 (PP-13)

Galectin-carbohydrate interactions

The galectin carbohydrate binding specificity has been characterized extensively against panels of small saccharides, and the structural basis for the interaction determined in some cases by X-ray crystallography and NMR-spectroscsopy (6, 52, 53).

The galectin CRD has about 130 amino acids folded as a slightly bent βsandwich forming a groove on the concave side (Fig. 4). This groove forms the galectin carbohydrate recognition site with 5 subsites (A-E) (10). Subsite C is the defining conserved binding site of the galectin CRDs, and gives them their shared specificity for β-galactose residues. The other subsites determine the variable fine specificity for larger saccharides, where additional saccharide moieties are attached to the galactose. Thus, addition at position 1 of 4Glc (as in lactose), 4GlcNAc (as in LacNAc), 3GlcNAc or 3GalNAc are bound in site D, and enhances binding to different degree for different galectins. Addition to position 4 and 6 of the Gal block galectin binding, as these positions point into the protein surface (Fig. 3). Additions to position 3, however, point into site B, and are tolerated or enhance binding to varying degrees. Of special interest here is NeuAc α 2-3, which, for example, is tolerated by galectin-3, but strongly preferred by the galectin-8 N terminal CRD. Additions to position 2 e.g. Fuca1-2, are also tolerated, or may enhance binding. Saccharide moieties potentially bound by galectins based on the criteria described above, are found in glycoproteins, and in glycolipids, but the extent to which galectins really bind them is less well known. Additional interactions e.g. in the loosely defined site E, may enhance or prevent binding to a saccharide when present in its natural context as part of a glycoprotein or glycolipid.



Fig. 4. Molecular model of the galectin-3 carbohydrate recognition domain (CRD) with bound LacNAc. The protein is shown as a solvent accessible surface, rendered semitransparent to show inside residues in wire format. The bound sugar is shown in stick model with the Gal residue white and the GlcNAc black. The localization of binding subsites are indicated by A-E and the linkage position of permissible extensions in site B and further extensions into site E are indicated by arrows.

The protein glycosylation machinery

Most secreted proteins, proteins exposed at the cell surface, and proteins exposed to the luminal side of intracellular vesicles reach their destination via the "classical" ER-Golgi pathway. While being synthesized on ER-bound ribosomes, the proteins enter the ER-lumen, in full for secreted proteins, or partially for transmembrane proteins. From there the peptide chain is moved through the ER, Golgi and subsequent trafficking vesicles to reach their

destination (54-57). On, the way, most are modified with sugar chains in reactions catalyzed by glycosyltransferases while they pass through the ER-Golgi compartments. There are different types of glycosylations, as exemplified in Fig. 1B and below). Since N-glycans appear to provide the major, if not only, cell surface binding site for galectins (34), and are also the major glycan type found on serum glycoproteins, they are described in some extra detail below.

N-linked glycans

N-glycan addition occurs on asparagines in the sequence context Asn-X-Ser/Thr, via a complex synthetic machinery illustrated in Fig. 5. The first part of this machinery (top panel of Fig. 5) is conserved in all eukaryotic organisms (57), and is functionally involved in proofreading protein folding and early transsport. The synthesis of a 14-sugar precursor lipid-linked oligosaccharide is begun in the cytosol and completed after flipping into the ER-lumen. The glycan is then transferred to a newly synthesized peptide chain entering the ER-lumen, if it has an available asparagine in the correct sequence context. Three glucose units and up to six mannoses are then removed from many glycans before the proteins enters the cis-Golgi. The last glucose, which can be removed and readded, is recognized by the ER-lectin-chaperones calnexin and calreticulin as a signal of improper/incomplete folding. The mannoses are recognized by the membrane protein lectin ERGIC-53, which is involved in transport of proteins between ER and cis-Golgi. The CRD of ERGIC-53 has the same β -sandwich fold type as galectins, but does not recognize galactose (<u>58, 59</u>).

Galactose residues, and thereby potential galectin binding sites, are added in the next part of the protein glycosylation pathway (middle panel of Fig. 4), which is conserved in vertebrates and some other multicellular organisms, but not unicellular ones. GlcNAc residues are added to the core of the inner most three mannose residues to initiate branches (referred to as antennae), and usually galactose is quickly added to the GlcNAc. The enzymes that initiate the

25

antennae are GlcNAc-transferases (I-VI) and are encoded by the Mgat1-6 genes. They act in a precise order and are highly regulated, with activities varying due to cellular conditions. For example, Mgat1 must act before any of the others can act; Mgat5 is responsible for addition of a third antenna that has a strong correlation with cancer (29, 30). The result is N-glycans with 2-4 (or even 5) antennae, collectively named complex structures. A few "hybrid glycans" get only one antenna and retain two additional mannoses on the other side, and some glycans also remain as "high mannose structures" with no addition of GlcNAc residues.

Galactose is usually added to the antenna GlcNAc in β 1-4 linkage to produce a LacNAc, but 1-3 linkage also occurs; both provide a galectin binding site (indicated by vertical bar in Fig. 5). The complex N-glycan can now be further modified, mainly in the later parts of the Golgi, by addition of sialic acid (NeuAc), fucose, further extension of the antennae (by additional LacNAc residues added to the first), and other modifications. This may or may not block galectin binding sites, or create new ones, as exemplified in Fig. 5, bottom panel.

Mature glycoproteins, e.g. as found in serum, may contain one or more Nglycans selected from the type of structure shown in the two bottom panels of Fig.4. Thus the more fully processed complex structures tend to predominate, whereas earlier high mannose and hybrid structure are rarer. The structures from the ER (top panel in Fig. 5) are usually not found on mature glycoproteins, but do occur. Multiple N-glycosylation sites on the same protein may contain different glycan structures, and the glycans found at one particular site also varies in a protein sample. Even if fully processed forms may predominate, partially processed forms also occur, lacking one or more terminal modifications, or having, by regulation, different number of antennae. This microheterogeneity is experimentally observed by the fact that a particular glycoprotein may appear as an indistinct band on SDS-PAGE, produce many

26

spots on isoelectric focusing and multiple masses on mass spectrometry. It is functionally regulated in many important contexts such as inflammation and cancer (29, 60, 61), and, as discussed below determines the degree of binding to galectins.

Varied expression levels of glycosyltransferases can affect the repertoire of N-glycan structures produced in the specific cell type. Some glycosyltransferase and glycosidase genes contain promoter regions bearing transcription-factorbinding elements that function in growth regulatory and oncogene transformation pathways. Substrate levels have also been reported to influence the branching of N-glycans. The Golgi pathway is sensitive for hexoseamine levels which affects the production of tri and tetra antennary N-glycans. Glycoproteins can be joined in a lattice prolonging their time on the cell surface before endocytosement and recycling (7, 29, 62). Galectin-3 is involved in attachment of the proteins in the lattice and binds N-glycans with $\alpha 2.3$ -sialylated or free galactoses. More N-glycans on a protein and more branches on Nglycans increase the probability for galectin-3 binding. This leads to an increased retainment of N-glycosylated proteins as the EGFR on the cell surface. In line with this, proteins with several N-glycan sites have been shown to be less sensitive than proteins with few sites that require higher hexosamine levels to prolong the time the protein stays on the cell surface (29).



--- medial- trans Golgi - trans Golgi network

Fig 5. The N-glycosylation pathway. Saccharides are shown in the same symbols as in (Fig 1B), based on (<u>57</u>). Potential galectin binding sites based on saccharides are marked by a vertical line. For the multiantennary structures in the middle panel, only one binding site is marked even if there are more. In the bottom panel, sialic acids (diamonds) are linked to the 6 position of Gal, except the most right one in the two last structures, which are linked to the 3 position, as indicated by their oblique connection.

O-linked glycans

The most common O-linked glycosylation on cell surface and extracellular glycoproteins starts after the addition of GalNAc to serine or threonine of a protein in the Golgi. Sugars are then added to form disaccharides and many can be extended by sequential addition of galactose, GlcNAc, fucose and sialic acid to generate linear or multi-branched chains (1, 56) (see examples in Fig. 1B). In contrast to N-glycosylation, a consensus sequence for GalNAc addition to polypeptides has not been found.

A galactose can, for example, be added to position 3 of the first GalNAc, to create a Core 1 structure (also named T-antigen). If a GlcNAc also is added to the 6 position of the GalNAc, the structure is called Core 2, which can be extended on the GlcNAc by repeating Gal and GlcNAc residues. Similarly but with addition of GlcNAcs Core 3 and 4 structures are created. Less common structures are Core 5-7. If the Gal of Core 1 is extended by NeuAc α 2-3, no further modifications can occur, and the structure is also referred to as sialyl-T-antigen (T) antigen.

Since, there are many β -galactose residues on O-linked glycan, there are many potential galectin binding sites. However, like in N-linked glycans, these sites can be blocked or enhanced depending of their context and further modifications. The T-antigen (Gal β 1-3GalNAc) and its sialylated version, are excellent ligands for galectin-8N, but poor ligands for galectin-3, even if the latter has attracted a lot of attention (<u>63</u>). Extended LacNAc containing chains in Core-2 glycans on the other hand, may be good ligands for galectins-1 and -3.

O-glycans can often occur in clusters with many glycans attached to Ser or Thr residues near each others. These clusters are especially large in mucin-type molecules that occur at the cell surface and as secreted glycoproteins on mucosal surfaces. Other proteins have smaller clusters of O-glycan often in regions connecting other domains of the protein, for example as found in IgA. Finally some proteins contain relatively few scattered O-glycans. In some cells, for

example certain circulating blood cells, O-glycans can be as abundant as Nglycans, but on serum glycoproteins, O-glycans are much scarcer. In mucins, the many O-glycans contribute to general physical properties such as retention of water and ions, and protective gel formation. O-glycans can also act as specific "tags" being recognized by lectins. For example, the counter receptor of selectins involved in the extravasation of leukocytes, often carries O-glycans with the spefically recognized sialyl-Le^x structure (<u>4</u>).

Ser and Thr residues in proteins can also carry O-linked saccharides, such GlcNAc in the cytososl, Xyl that initiate glycosaminoglycan addition, and Fuc and Man that initiate more unusual short chains involved in specific signalling (1, 3, 57). However, these are less relevant for galectin binding, as far as is known, and do not occur on serum glycoproteins.

Glycolipids

Glycosphingolipids are characterized by an O-linkage between glucose (sometimes galactose) and a ceramide. In larger glycosphingolipids, a Gal β 1-4 is first added to the Glc forming lactose. This is the only glycan type that contains lactose except for the free saccharides in milk. The lactose may be extended in various ways by adding first GlcNAc, GalNAc or another Gal and then further. This produces different glycosphingolipid series (56, 57), and some clearly are able to bind galectins, e.g. gangliosides . Glycosphingolipids occur in lipid rafts and their glycans bind to each other or e.g. integrins through which they can affect signalling. Galectin-4 has been inferred as a possible cross-linker and stablizer in lipid rafts (18, 64, 65). The glycophospholipid anchors, another glycolipid type, contain mannose and glucosamine that are assembled in the ER on a phosphatidylinositol backbone. The glycolipid is then transferred to proteins and where they function as anchors into the membrane, and affect membrane diffusion, intracellular protein sorting and signalling. They are not expected to interact with galectins, as they do not contain galactose.

Galectins and glycoproteins

If a galectin binding site is available, the next question is whether binding will be strong enough to be relevant, and what its functional effect will be. For long it was thought that protein carbohydrate interactions are too weak to be biologically effective, and that multivalent interactions would be necessary (<u>66</u>). However, some monovalent galectin-ligand interactions clearly are strong enough (K_d in nM range) (<u>67</u>), whereas others require divalency (or higher), for example, the likely case for galectin-1 (<u>33</u>). For binding to a particular glycoprotein, a monovalent interaction would require one available binding site, whereas divalent interaction would require two. This may be the reason why galectin-1 binds a smaller subset of serum glycoproteins compared to galectin-3 as found in Paper I.

If we now assume galectin binding has occurred, the following question is what is the functional effect? Here di- or multivalency of the galectin appears to be decisive. It may be to induce signalling by cross-linking a particular ligand, by similar mechanisms as in other cases of receptor cross linking. It may also be to induce larger cross linked lattices of one or more glycoproteins at a cell surface (7, 35). This in turn may result in either signalling as described above or segregation of the cross-linked glycoproteins from other receptors, with consequent effects (Fig. 3). Finally, galectin cross-linking may confer binding of one glycoprotein to another, e.g. a soluble serum glycoprotein to a cell membrane glycoprotein.

Galectins have been reported to interact with a wide range of extracellular and cellular glycoproteins, and many functions suggested as exemplified throughout this text. However, it has remained largely unclear how each particular glycoprotein binds a galectin, and how this is related to the ensuing biological effect. Some examples are given above under galectin function, and below in conjunction with galectins in inflammation and cancer.

31

Serum proteins

In paper I we studied what kinds of serum glycoproteins galectins bind. Below follows first a definition of serum and an overview of the proteins it contains. Then follows examples of when serum protein levels are shifting with the focus on glycosylated proteins and some specific examples of galectin ligands.

Overview of protein composition of serum

Plasma can be defined as the liquid phase of blood including proteins but excluding cells (<u>68, 69</u>). Serum is the protein solution left after plasma is allowed to clot and thus lacks fibrinogen and prothrombin. The term plasma or serum proteins, generally refers to proteins that fulfil their function in the circulation. However serum also contains a great deal of other proteins: intracellular proteins that leak out into the interstitial fluid and passes on into the blood stream e.g. peptide hormones or as a result of tissue damage e.g. myoglobin, after a heart attack. Thus serum contains known proteins over a very wide concentration range (from mg/ml to pg/ml), which can be divided into functional groups as follows:

Proteins produced by solid tissues, with their function in serum. The classical serum proteins are mainly produced by the liver and intestines and have a molecular mass larger than the kidney filtration cutoff (~45 kDa) and thus a long serum lifetime. The predominant serum protein is albumin (50 mg/ml), and others occur mainly in the range of concentration from the low mg/ml (e.g. transferrin, immunoglobulins, haptoglobin, protease inhibitors, complement factor C3) to the low μ g/ml (C-reactive protein, complement factor C2). The serum proteins fulfil a range of functions for example maintaining the colloid osmotic pressure (albumin), transporting low-molecular compounds that are insoluble in water, toxic (e.g. bilirubin and fatty acids) or sparsely occurring (e.g. iron). Some proteins with low molecular mass are bound in complexes to plasma proteins to avoid elimination through glomerular filtration.

If excluding albumin, the main part of the serum proteins are involved in the defence mechanism of the body, for example protease inhibitors, immunoglobulins and the complement system. In many cases the proteins are also synthesized by other sources than hepatocytes and intestinal cells, for example by B-lymphocytes (immunoglobulins), macrophages (alpha-1antitrypsin) and endothelial cells, however the hepatocytes dominate the synthesis quantitatively except for immunoglobulins.

Proteins leaking into serum from damaged tissue. These occur at much lower concentrations than the classical serum proteins (~0.1 ng/ml – 0.1 μ g/ml). In this category, proteins are included that normally have their function inside the cell but are released into plasma compartment after cell death or damage. Examples are cardiac troponins or myoglobin used for diagnosing myocardial infarction.

Abnormal secretions. This group contains proteins that are released from tumors and other diseased tissues and can be non serum associated proteins released into the circulation by cancer cells. Example of a biomarker in use is the carcino embryonic antigen (CEA) used to detect pancreatic cancer ($\underline{70}$).

Long distance and local receptor ligands. They occur at sub ng/ml concentrations. Peptide and protein hormones as insulin and erythropoietin are examples of long distance receptor ligands. The molecular sizes in the group are varying, indicating that time in circulation differs and hence time of activity. Cytokines and other short range mediators of cellular responses are examples of local receptor ligands. They usually have a short lifetime in serum and seem to mostly mediate local effects since they are diluted to ineffective levels in sera and are harmful at high levels in the circulation.

Foreign proteins. These include proteins produced and released into circulation by parasites or other infectious organisms.

Serum proteins of all abundance levels have been shown to be useful as diagnostic tools. Hypothetically all tissue proteins found in serum would be

candidate damage markers. However that demands knowledge of the normal background levels of tissue destruction and remodelling in a healthy individual.

Glycans of serum proteins. Many serum proteins are glycoproteins, and carry N-glycans, whereas O-glycans are less common. The N-glycans of serum have been characterized extensively, and recently a quantitative profile has been obtained with the help of improved chemical methods for glycan release and fractionation combined with mass spectrometry (71). Table II shows such a profile, where the glycans has been grouped based on their structural features and potential ability to bind galectins. As can be seen, the major N-glycan of all serum glycoprotein is a bi-antennary complex structure with each galactose capped with 6 linked NeuAc. Therefore, this glycan cannot bind galectins. However, as is evident from Table II, serum contains many other glycans that have available galectin binding sites due to incomplete sialylation, additional antennae, and/or sialylation at position 3 of Gal instead of at position 6. The most prominent O-glycosylated pritein of human serum is IgA, which carries mainly sialyl-T-antigen (72), providing a preferred binding site for galectin-8N (<u>67</u>).

		Non-		In	Estimated
		sialylated	Conc.	lgG	available to
No.	Structure	galactose	(μM)	(μM)	galectin (μM)
	Two or more non-sialylated galactose		43	15	28
28	NeuAc ₁ (GalGlcNAc) ₄ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	3	9	0	9
21	(GalGlcNAc) ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ GlcNAc	3	5	0	5
31	NeuAc ₂ (GalGlcNAc) ₄ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	2	2	0	2
24	NeuAc (GalGlcNAc) ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	2	5	0	5
7	(GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	2	6	0	6
11	(GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc	2	14	14	0
13	(GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ GlcNAc	2	1	0	1
18	(GalGlcNAc)₂ Man₃GlcNAc₂Fuc GlcNAc	2	1	1	0
	One non-sialylated galactose		162	50	113
33	NeuAc ₃ (GalGlcNAc) ₄ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	1	2	0	2
27	NeuAc ₂ (GalGlcNAc) ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	1	14	0	14
29	NeuAc ₂ (GalGlcNAc) ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc	1	4	0	4
16	NeuAc (GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	1	74	0	74
19	NeuAc (GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc	1	22	11	11
20	NeuAc (GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ GlcNAc	1	3	0	3
23	NeuAc (GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc GlcNAc	1	7	4	4
4	GalGlcNAc Man₃GlcNAc₂ GlcNAc	1	1	0	1
6	GalGlcNAc Man₃GlcNAc₂Fuc GlcNAc	1	29	29	0
12	GalGlcNAc Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc GlcNAc ₂	1	6	6	0
	Fully sialylated tri- and tetranatennary		53	0	27
34	NeuAc ₄ (GalGlcNAc) ₄ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	0	1	0	1
30	NeuAc ₃ (GalGlcNAc) ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	0	39	0	20
32	NeuAc ₃ (GalGlcNAc) ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc	0	13	0	6

Table II. N-glycans in human serum, concentrations^a, and availability to galectin binding.

			Non-		In	Estimated
			sialylated	Conc.	lgG	available to
No.	Structure		galactose	(μΜ)	(μΜ)	galectin (µM)
		Other structures		486	24	0
22	NeuAc ₂	(GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	0	416	0	0
25	NeuAc ₂	(GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc	0	22	0	0
26	NeuAc ₂	(GalGlcNAc) ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc GlcNAc	0	7	0	0
5	NeuAc	GalGlcNAc Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	0	2	0	0
9	NeuAc	GalGlcNAc Man₃GlcNAc₂ Man	0	2	0	0
10	NeuAc	GalGlcNAc Man₃GlcNAc₂ GlcNAc	0	2	0	0
15	NeuAc	GalGlcNAc Man₃GlcNAc₂Fuc GlcNAc	0	3	0	0
17	NeuAc	GalGlcNAc Man₃GlcNAc₂ GlcNAc₂	0	2	0	0
1		Man ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	0	2	0	0
2		Man ₃ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂	0	4	0	0
3		GlcNAc ₂ Man ₃ GlcNAc ₂ Fuc	0	21	21	0
8		GlcNAc3 Man3GlcNAc2Fuc	0	3	3	0
	Total			751	89	167

Table II continued. N-glycans in human serum, concentrations^a, and availability to galectin binding.

a) Table from paper I. The glycan numbers and structures are shown as interpreted from $(\underline{71})$ based on known serum N-glycan structures.
Serum proteins in inflammation and the acute phase response

The acute-phase response is a summary name for a complex series of reactions initiated in response to infection, physical trauma, or malignancy, with the purpose to prevent ongoing tissue damage, isolate and destroy the infective organism and activate the repair processes. It includes changes in the plasma concentrations of certain proteins, thus named acute phase proteins (APPs), as part of a large number of systemic manifestations that replace normal homeostasis during inflammatory states (73). Most APPs are glycoproteins. APP changes are not limited to acute inflammation but persist during chronic inflammation. They are largely a result of alterations in synthesis by hepatocytes in response to circulating cytokines. Although other cells as macrophages, fibroblasts, epithelial cells and adipocytes also can synthesise APPs, these cells are not likely to contribute significantly to plasma concentrations. In humans, infection, trauma, inflammatory disorders and severe malignancies are causing raised levels of APPs. APPs are individually regulated and different patterns are seen in different diseases. A number of inflammation-associated cytokines are important in regulation of the APP response including TNF-a, interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-1, IL-8 and TGF- β . These cytokines are produced by a number of cells including neutrophils, lymphocytes, fibroblasts, endothelial and epithelial cells although monocytes and macrophages at the inflammatory site constitute the major source. Cytokines also mediate glycosylation changes independently of their effects on APP production which differ between acute and chronic inflammation.

Examples of galectin binding serum glycoproteins

-functions of the individual proteins and alterations of glycosylation

Alpha1-acid glycoprotein (AGP) is an acute phase protein that is primarily synthesised by hepatocytes. Various inflammatory cytokines and steroid hormones influence the expression and increased levels have been observed in patients of various inflammatory conditions. AGP has five N-glycan residues that are glycosylated differently during acute, chronic inflammation (74) and cancer (75). AGP is involved in modulating inflammation and immune responses, for instance was AGP shown to reduce the phagocytic activity of neutrophils, superoxide anion production and migration(76). On the other hand AGP was also found to induce rises in intracellular Ca²⁺ via siglec binding in primed neutrophils (77). An elevation of the cytosolic concentration of free calcium ions is a common feature to the activation of the secretory system and exocytosis of intracellular vesicles (78).

Alpha-2-macroglobulin is a plasma protease inhibitor composed of two non-covalently associated dimers of disulfide linked identical subunits of ~180 kDa, and has a total of 32 N-glycosylation sites (8 per subunit). Within its sequence a proteolysis-sensitive region is found, which when cleaved by proteases leads to a conformational change that captures and inactivates the protease. Alpha-2-macroglobulin also has other functions and interactions with tissue cells. The conformational change when the bait-region is cleaved reveals a binding site for the N-glycosylated cell surface receptor LRP-1 (low density lipoprotein receptor related protein-1), a member of the LDL receptor gene family. The binding of alpha-2-macroglobulin to LRP-1 induced cell proliferation and MAP kinase activation in a macrophage derived cell line. Interestingly this was inhibited by LPS ($\underline{79}$) which suggests that the macrophages were activated in a M2-polarized pathway since LPS activates macrophages in the classical (M1) way (<u>80-82</u>). Several growth factors have

been reported to interact with alpha-2-macroglobulin (83). A consequence of this may be stabilization against renal filtration which was a suggested feature of alpha-2-macroglobulin binding TGF- β (83).

Haptoglobin consists of two different polypeptide chains, and occurs in different genetically determined forms in different individuals. The α -chain that Haptoglobin polymorphism arises from exists in two variants (9 and 16 kDa) and the β -chain (40 kDa) with 4 glycosylation sites (69, 84) causes further microheterogeneity. Individuals carrying the allele (either one or two) coding for the α^2 -chain will form haptoglobin polymers with up to 6 β -chains, thus forming highly glycosylated complexes (whereas individuals with the α^1 -chain only will form a complex including two β -chains). Haptoglobin has several functions, apart from the well known haemoglobin-binding and anti-oxidative roles, it has been identified as a galectin-3 ligand in sera of colon-cancer patients (25), an angiogenic factor in serum (85, 86), required for proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells during formation of new blood vessels and having immunomodulatory effects (87). It has also been suggested to be involved in remodelling in asthma by inducing fibroblast differentiation (88). A range of studies indicate that haptoglobin levels may be raised and the N-glycan structures on the protein altered, having more fucosylation and more tri-, and tetra antennary structures in different cancer forms (60, 61, 70, 75).

Galectins and inflammation

Galectins are implicated in inflammation and fibrosis ($\underline{89-91}$) and have been shown to modulate steps of the inflammatory response, such as cell-matrix interactions($\underline{92}$), cell trafficking, survival of cells ($\underline{93}$) and secretion of cytokines and other inflammatory factors ($\underline{14}$, $\underline{39}$, $\underline{45}$, $\underline{50}$, $\underline{94}$, $\underline{95}$). Below follows an

overview over inflammatory steps and development of chronic inflammation and then further examples of galectin involvement in chronic inflammatory conditions.

General mechanisms of inflammation and development of chronic inflammation

The acute inflammation is rapid and usually becomes obvious within minutes after tissue trauma, the symptoms of redness, heat oedema, and pain that were described already 2000 years ago represent cooperation between vascular, neurological and cellular responses to the initial damage (96-98). Damage to blood vessels is an initial event of the damaged tissue and possibly also microbial invasion. The blood clotting system is activated, forming a clot that restores vessel integrity and creates a scaffold generated by activated fibrinogen that forms a three dimensional structure where platelets and blood cells are trapped. Aggregating blood cells release coagulation factors, leukocyte recruiting factors and growth factors that evoke a vascular response including changes in permeability, blood flow and adhesiveness. The influx of fluid increases the concentration of important serum proteins e.g. components of the complement system and immunoglobulins. The endothelial cells are directly involved in the inflammatory response by releasing coagulation and permeability factors, recruitment factors and proinflammatory cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and IL-1. When stimulated by, for example, TNF- α and IL-1, endothelial cells begin to express adhesion molecules on their lumenal surface. The adhesion molecules can be divided into four families: the integrins, the intercellular and vascular adhesion molecules (ICAM and VCAM), the selectins and the mucin-like selectin receptors. When blood leukocytes passes by the site of injury the adhesion molecules causes them to halt. The combination of increased blood flow, vascular permeability and expression of adhesion molecules and chemoattractants by endothelial cells

causes the leukocytes to leave the circulation and enter the tissue. The process of immune cell migration out of the blood vessel is divided into steps where the leukocytes first are rolling mediated by selectin-ligand interactions, then are induced by local chemokines to halt and adhere firmly, as mediated by integrin – ligand interactions, to the vessel wall and then extravasate into the tissue ($\underline{4}$). When the leukocytes have bound the adhesion molecules, chemotactic signals from the inflammatory site allow them to migrate to the inflammatory site.

Inflammatory factors of the acute inflammation - The first cells to reach the site of damage are usually neutrophils which start to destroy microbial agents and phagocytose tissue debris (99). The factors released by the coagulation pathway and complement activation together with serum and cell derived products initiate and amplify the inflammation. Additionally, platelets, endothelial cells, leukocytes and the surrounding connective tissue-cells contribute to the inflammation by producing inflammatory factors. Leukocytes produce cytokines, enzymes and lipid mediators that orchestrate the inflammatory response. Phospholipases are activated to degrade membrane phospholipids, this initiates the cyclooxygenase pathway that produces prostaglandins and eventually leukotrienes. As the neutrophils are clearing the area, monocytes enter the inflamed tissue by a similar pathway. Additionally, nearby tissue monocyte-derived macrophages arrive, together with neutrophils they cause macrophages to increase the clearance of damaged tissue and microorganisms (100). Macrophages have a broad range of functions: they can destroy and phagocytose bacteria and tumor cells but also regulate the inflammatory response, they produce cytokine, growth factors and matrixinducing molecules. Macrophages are involved in the initial phase of inflammation where classically activated (M1-polarized) macrophages kill and remove bacteria. These, cytotoxic and proinflammatory activities of M1 macrophages, are enhanced by Th1-cytokines as IFN-y or IL-12. M1-polarized activation of macrophages is also associated with the proinflammatory cytokines

TNF- α and IL-6 (<u>80</u>) that induce a cascade of other cytokines. After antigen presenting cells have become activated they travel from the tissue to a lymph node, there they encounter and prime lymphocytes and initiate different immune responses (<u>101</u>). The lymphocytes in turn function in activation of macrophages and are also central for the B-cell antibody production (CD4+ T-cells) or function in direct killing of cells through antigen recognition (CD8+ T-cells).

In the resolution of inflammation microbes or other inflammatory stimuli are cleared damaged tissue removed. Vascular integrity is restored, damaged tissue replaced and if needed, the epithelium resurfaces the former inflammatory site.

Cytokines that supported initiation and maintenance of inflammation are also involved in the resolution by inhibition of the inflammatory response. IL-4 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine that inhibits neutrophil production of IL-8, reducing procoagulant activity of endothelial cells (<u>102</u>) and blocking macrophage activation and promoting their apoptosis. IL-4 also induces differentiation of T-lymphocytes into T-helper cells type 2 (Th2) that activates M2 polarized macrophages (<u>80</u>). The macrophages contribute to the proliferative phase by synthesizing e.g. growth factors e.g. FGF necessary for the tissue regeneration. In the formation of new tissue, angiogenetic mechanisms are necessary, e.g. enzymatic degradation of the basement membrane and extracellular matrix, migration and proliferation of endothelial cells forming a tube stabilized by mesenchymal cells and matrix. Eventually growth is inhibited by interferons and other cytokines.

Chronic inflammation -If the inflammatory stimuli fail to be removed, the initiating phases of inflammation will not go down but become chronic and occur at the same time as tissue remodelling and healing (103, 104). The chronic inflammation can be caused by irritants first evoking an acute inflammation that then becomes chronic when the immune system fails to eliminate the irritant

(e.g. in tuberculosis), self antigens that cause an autoimmune response (e.g. in rheumatoid arthritis) or a low intensity irritant that persists over a long time period but does not necessarily cause an acute reaction (e.g. in tobacco smoking). While an acute inflammation usually has resolved after three weeks, chronic inflammation can subjectively be defined as lasting for more than six weeks. The persistent inflammation causes significant tissue destruction.

In chronic inflammation cells as macrophages and lymphocytes dominate. The M2-polarized macrophages of the healthy resolution phase of inflammation have also been implicated in various events of chronic inflammation e.g. asthma, fibrosis and atheromatous plaques (80) and contribute by producing proinflammatory cytokines as IL-1, TNF- α and IL-6 (105). Also non-immune cells are affected in chronic inflammation and contribute to unwanted "tissue remodelling". For example, the differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts contributes to development of fibrosis.

Asthma

Asthma is one example of airway chronic inflammation where particularly mast cells, eosinophils and T-lymphocytes are important for disease development (106-109) but also neutrophils (110). Symptoms are usually associated with limitation of airflow that is partly reversible. The chronic inflammation of underlying airways is linked to the bronchial hyperresponsiveness to nonspecific triggers as allergens, exercise, cold air etc. Already in mild asthma certain characteristics as mucus hypersecretion and goblet cell hyperplasia, oedema of airways, epithelial shedding, smooth muscle hypertrophy, infiltration of eosinophils in the bronchial wall, activation of mast cells and deposition of collagen under the basement membrane can be observed.

Allergic diseases are associated with Th2-phenotype T-cells. Tlymphocytes interact with B-lymphocytes to regulate the production of allergen specific IgE. Epitopes on allergens are recognized by dendritic cells and

processed fragments are presented to T-cells via the T-cell receptor and MHC-II on the antigen presenting cell. Costimulatory molecules as adhesion molecules are also needed. In the presence of IL-4, T-cells differentiate to Th2-cells that in turn express IL-4 and IL-13, their action on B-cells cause isotype switching from IgM and IgG to IgE. Cross-linking of IgE molecules and IgE receptors on mast cells leads to release of a range of inflammatory mediators e.g. histamine, heparin and tryptase. Other cells with IgE receptors are basophils, dendritic cells, eosinophils, macrophages and platelets.

Eosinophil recruitment is regulated for example by activated mast cells and T-cells. To cross the vascular epithelium and enter the airways, cell adhesion molecules (CAMs) are needed. These are expressed on leukocytes and endothelial cells. Glycan-structures e.g. Sialyl Lewis X on eosinophils interact loosely with lectin-binding regions of P-, L-, and E-selectins, making the leukocyte roll along the endothelial cells. The selectin expression is upregulated by e.g. histamine, leukotrienes, IL-1 and TNF- α . The rolling along the endothelium is arrested when integrins on the leukocyte interact with ICAM-1 on endothelial cells that begin to migrate into the tissue.

Airway remodelling of asthma -The loss of bronchial epithelium and its ciliary layer that occurs in the airways of asthma patients impairs mucus clearance and allows better entrance for allergens and noxious stimuli to smooth muscle cells and sensory nerve receptors of the bronchial tissue (<u>111</u>). This initiates a repair response that leads to remodelling, where e.g. platelet-derived growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor induces myofibroblasts to proliferate. In the presence of TGF- β , the myofibroblasts start to synthesize collagen and other matrix molecules as β -laminin and versican, which thickens the basement membrane. These proliferative and repair processes are part of the pathology of chronic inflammation in asthma and may continue to involve nerves, blood vessels, and smooth muscle together with matrix deposition in submucosa and adventitia.

Involvement of galectins in asthma and other chronic inflammatory conditions

Galectins have been implicated in both inflammatory and tumorigenic processes (9, 14, 20, 28, 37-39, 45, 50, 93, 112, 113). Recently a rate limiting role for galectin-3 in chronic inflammation with fibrosis has emerged, based on its effect on alternative macrophage activation (M2-polarized) and fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation (80, 91). In vivo studies in an asthma model revealed that galectin-3 was upregulated in peribronchial inflammatory cells and BAL and was necessary for development of lower airway hyperresponsiveness (27). In a model of renal fibrosis, galectin-3 secreting macrophages were shown to be necessary for the fibrotic development (89, 90). Another effect of galectin-3 is to promote T-lymphocyte anergy by distancing the T-cell receptor from CD8 (114).

Galectin-1 has been proposed to induce apoptosis in certain activated Tcells (Th1 and Th17), and thereby be able to modulate the balance in favour of Th2 (37, 40). The Th2-cells appears to be saved because of increased expression of terminal NeuAc linked to the 6 position of galactose, which as mentioned above would block galectin binding. Galectin-1 also has a possible inhibitory effect on recruitment of neutrophils for extravasation (115).

Other galectins also have immunomodulatory effects, although less studied than for galectins-1 and -3. Galectin-8 has been reported to bind to CD44 on neutrophils (<u>116</u>) and mediate adhesion via integrins on neutrophils (<u>117</u>) and T-cells (<u>92</u>) indicating a role in inflammation. Galectin-9 is secreted by T-cell derived cell lines (<u>118</u>) and interacts with TIM-3 involved in the function of regulatory T-cells.

Chronic inflammation, cancer and galectins

Reports have found galectins expressed in tumors but also in the surrounding stroma, indicating a cross-talk that is beneficial for the development of the tumor ($\underline{8, 10, 119-122}$). Galectin-3 is expressed in tumor infiltrating macrophages (<u>123</u>), further indicating a direct connection between the roles of galectins in cancer and inflammation.

Chronic inflammation supports cancer

For expansion of a neoplastic tissue, tumor cells need to acquire unlimited self renewing capacity, but they also need to utilize cellular programs of the tissue that e.g. enhance blood flow, oxygenation and angiogenesis, additionally molecular programs are needed that support tumor cell survival and enhanced metabolism of the extracellular matrix favouring remodelling and expansion of the tissue (124, 125). Although a vast amount of genetic alterations are identified only a small number of cancers are caused by known cancersusceptibility genes (126). Lately it has been discussed that the tumor is dependent of surrounding tissue for its development, where the mesenchyme surrounding the tumor undergoes inflammatory changes that actually supports the tumor e.g. by an increased angiogenesis (127). The processes of angiogenesis, cell migration, and remodelling of matrix are not unique to cancer but programs that are normally activated during development or in adult tissue as response to acute stress (128) the surrounding tissue is thus necessary to support the progression of cancer. This is supported by the fact that the cellular composition of cancers contains not only neoplastic cells but also genetically stable cells that are activated or recruited to the local microenvironment e.g. innate (82, 105, 124) or adaptive immune cells, cells of the vasculature or fibroblasts and other mesenchymal support cells. These cells contribute by releasing soluble mediators e.g. TNF, interleukins and interferons that regulate

cell proliferation, migration, angiogenesis, tissue remodelling, metabolism and the integrity of the genome. This contributes to the increased risk of developing cancer that individuals suffering from chronic inflammatory disorders harbour.

Changes of glycosylation in cancer

The cell surface carries a large amount of N-glycosylated proteins. Glycoproteins can have many glycosylation sites which may be differently processed (129). It was found that when cells lack a glycosyltransferase (Mgat5) that catalyses addition of GlcNAc to form N-glycan tri- and tetra antennary structures, fewer tumors with poorer metastatic ability were formed. N-glycan branching of different proteins have been reported to be increased in a range of different cancers (24, 29, 70, 130-136) promoting the survival of the tumor (137) and metastasis (138). On the other hand certain cancer associated metalloproteinases showed decreased binding to galectin-3 indicating an increased range of activity (36).

Reported roles of galectins

Many growth factor receptors such as EGFR, PDGFR, FGFR and IGFR have several N-glycan sites, galectin-3 increases the time the growth receptor spends on the cell surface before it is recycled by connecting glycoproteins in a lattice (30, 136, 139). The galectin lattice competes with oligomerized caveolin-1 microdomains for epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR). The binding of EGFR to the galectin-lattice is dependent of branched N-glycans. EGFR association with the galectin lattice reduces the EGFR diffusion rates and promotes receptor interaction with the actin cytoskeleton. EGFR association with the lattice also opposes sequestration by caveolin-1, overriding its negative regulation of EGFR diffusion and signalling (135) and decreases the time the receptor spends in endosomes.

Galectin-8 was reported to mediate cell-adhesion via integrins (<u>140</u>), galectin-3 has also been suggested to be involved in adhesion and spreading of breast carcinoma cells. When cells were detached they rapidly began to secrete galectin-3, which was also taken up. The adhesion plaques of galectin-3 containing cells had a different appearance than control cells and it was suggested that the plaques were better suited for rapid adhesion and spreading as opposed to those of control cells that seemed to be suited for firmer adhesion (21).

Levels of galectin-1 and -3 have been reported to be elevated in patients suffering from head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCCs) (<u>141</u>), as well as in breast cancer cells (<u>142</u>). Additionally, galectin-1 expression was increased in breast cancer associated stroma and this could be correlated to tumor invasiveness (<u>143</u>). Galectin-1 is expressed in endothelial cells of activated lymphoid tissue and was also observed in endothelial cells of e.g. colon carcinoma (<u>44</u>).

Aim

As exemplified above, galectins have been implicated in cancer and inflammation based on a variety of effects in cell culture and *in vivo* using e.g. null mutant mice. Even if the implications appear convincing, it remains more unclear how the galectins actually act at the molecular level in relevant cellular systems; effects on cell migration, adhesion and retaining growth factor receptors on the cell surface are some suggestions. The aim of the present study was to shed further light on this, by analyzing how galectins recognize carbohydrates in their natural context, as exemplified by glycoproteins in serum and in airway tissue fluid. Paper I first gives an overview of ligands for different galectins in serum of healthy persons. Paper II focuses on whether there is a difference in the amount of galectin-1 ligands in sera of breast cancer patients compared to healthy persons, and paper III identifies and compares ligands of galectins-3 and -8 in bronchoalveolar lavage from asthma patients and healthy individuals.

Identification of serum glycoproteins from healthy persons that interact with galectins (Paper I)

The start point of paper I was the already known sugar structures that galectins prefer. The aim was to identify natural ligands of galectins in serum of healthy individuals and thereby find out more about functions and differences concerning natural ligands among the galectins. Serum is an easily obtained biofluid, commonly stored in bio-banks, it contains a wide array of glycoproteins and since tissue proteins diffuse into serum it contains a broad spectrum of functionally important proteins. Serum proteins diffuses out in tissues and can be found there at approximately 50% of the concentration in blood (<u>144</u>), thus

there are high concentrations of serum glycoproteins in tissues that galectins may interact with. Serum was applied to affinity chromatography on immobilized galectin-1, -2, -3, -4, -7, -8 or -9 and bound proteins identified using mass spectrometry.

It was clear that galectins bind serum glycoproteins very differently, galectin-3, -8 and -9 bound several different serum glycoproteins, and galectin-1 bound some, whereas galectin-2, 4 and 7 do not bind the kind of glycoproteins found in serum. This was confirmed by the fact that fluorescein tagged saccharide probes still bound the galectins even if serum glycoproteins did not. Using a mutant galectin-3 that lacked binding capacity for LacNAc-moieties as a negative control, we confirmed that the serum glycoprotein interaction was not unspecific. The identified galectin ligands differed among galectins, with galectin-3 as the "best" binding galectin, galectin-8 and-9 bound similarly as galectin-3 but some proteins differed among the galectins. Alpha-2-macroglobulin and haptoglobin were the most commonly found ligands, others were transferrin and alpha-1-acid glycoprotein.

Galectin-1 binds more glycoproteins from sera of cancer patients compared to healthy individuals (paper II)

The aim of paper II was to determine whether there would be more galectin-1 binding proteins in sera of breast cancer patients compared to healthy individuals. Expression of galectin-1 in tumors and surrounding stroma has been correlated to faster progression and worse outcome. Several previous reports have stated that changes of glycosylation occur in various cancer forms, this combined with the fact that some acute phase proteins rise during the progression of cancer made it likely that more proteins would bind galectin-1 in cancer sera. Additionally, galectin-1 only binds intermediate serum glycoprotein levels in healthy persons, compared to the other investigated galectins in paper I which may be an advantage when detecting increased binding.

We found that galectin-1 bound approximately double the amount of serum proteins to that of healthy persons. The major ligand was alpha-2-macroglobulin in healthy persons, while haptoglobin was the protein that increased most in cancer patients.

Identification of galectin-3 and -8 ligands in bronchoalveolar lavage (paper III)

In paper III the aim was to study whether galectin-3 and -8 bind different and/or more proteins in a state of chronic inflammation compared to a healthy condition. Additionally, we compared the identified ligands of galectin-3 and galectin-8. Galectin-3 is implicated in the alternative activation of macrophages that occurs in asthma and other conditions of chronic inflammation and galectin-8 was reported to mediate neutrophil adhesion via integrins, these made them both interesting targets for investigation. The epithelial lining fluid that is a part of BAL reflects the factors that affect the lung and can thus already in mild asthmatics be altered.

The ligands differed between the galectins, additionally some ligands were found only in asthma patients, this was the case for macrophage mannose receptor and CD59 as galectin-3 ligands and e.g. haptoglobin, CD55 and macrophage mannose receptor as galectin-8 ligands. Of the identified ligands haptoglobin has already been implicated in the differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts (<u>88</u>).

For one of the ligands, endocytosis was studied. Transferrin was endocytosed together with galectin-3 in fibroblasts obtained from the airways (Fig. 6). At the cell surface transferrin co-localized with galectin-3, but after endocytosis galectin-3 went back to the cell surface while transferrin remained inside the cell.



Fig 6. Fibroblasts were incubated with galectin-3 (green) and transferrin (red). A) After 1 minute galectin-3 and transferrin colocalize (yellow) at the cell surface and galectin-3 is endocytosed together with transferrin. B) After 30 minutes galectin-3 has recirculated to the cell surface while transferrin is localized inside the cell.

Summary and comments on methods used

Analysing bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL)

While serum is easy to obtain, samples of tissue fluids are more difficult. The airways and the alveoli foremost are covered with a thin layer of epithelial lining fluid which is a source of different cell types and soluble components of the lung that protects it from damage and preserve the gas-exchange capacity. Broncoalveolar lavage (BAL) is the most common way of sampling epithelial lining fluid (<u>145, 146</u>). BAL will typically contain cells, lipids, nucleic acids, proteins and peptides(<u>147, 148</u>). In a healthy individual the cellular content mainly consists of alveolar macrophages (that correspond to 80-95% of the cellular content) lymphocytes, neutrophils, eosinophils and sometimes plasma cells. Phospholipids that decrease alveolar surface tension are synthesized by pneumocytes (<u>149</u>) and constitute the main component of the surfactant. The epithelial lining fluid reflects the external factors that affect the lung. This can be used for early diagnosis and identification of disease markers. Specific patterns of protein expression from biofluids such as BAL and serum, as

discussed in the background, can be used as prognostic and diagnostic measurements of disease status (150, 151)

Affinity chromatography

The main method to collect galectin ligands for further identification was affinity chromatography (Fig. 7). Affinity chromatography separates proteins on the basis of their ability to reversibly interact with a specific ligand/receptor (in this case the galectin) coupled to a chromatography matrix (<u>152</u>). Affinity chromatography is unique since it purifies molecules based on the biological binding activity of the protein. Since galectins interact with galactose-moieties on glycoproteins, bound glycoprotein-ligands are easily eluted from immobilized galectin by using lactose as a competitive ligand.



Fig 7. Experimental setup: Proteins interacting with galectins can be identified by passing the bio-fluid of interest over galectins immobilized on a chromatography matrix. Non-interacting proteins are washed off while interacting glycoproteins can be purified and eluted using lactose as a competitive ligand. The purified galectin binding proteins may be analyzed using separation on a SDS-PAGE gel and immunoblotting, by direct analysis using shot gun proteomics, or as shown in figure mass spectrometry identification after separation on SDS-PAGE.

Mass spectrometry

For identification of the galectin bound glycoproteins isolated by affinity chromatography, mass spectrometry was used. After the protein had been digested with trypsin, the mass of the resulting peptides was determined by mass spectrometry. In this technique, the peptides are first ionized and then their mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) determined, from which the mass can be calculated. The number of ions at each mass-to-charge value is registered by a detector. Different techniques can be used for ionization, e.g. matrix-assisted-laserdesorption ionization (MALDI) or electrospray ionization (ESI), and mass analysis, e.g. time-of-flight (TOF), and Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FTICR) (153). In the present case MALDI-TOF was used to analyze semipurified proteins from bands cut from SDS-PAGE gels. Liquid chromatography coupled to ESI-FTICR was used to analyze peptides from the total mixture affinity isolated proteins (154). This is possible, because the latter technique also permitted a second step of fragmentation and mass spectrometry of each peptide, to determine its sequence. The peptide masses and/or sequences could then be compared to large data bases of known proteins, from which the likely identity of the original protein could be obtained. The computer systems for this proteomics analysis (155-158) is now very well developed, as described in the Methods sections of the paper I and III. Glycan structures were also analyzed in paper I.

By this thesis we wanted to clarify what glycoproteins galectins bind in biofluids as serum and BAL in an effort to better understand the elusive functions of galectins. We found that some galectins bind much more serum glycoproteins than was previously known, this tells us that these galectins are more or less always surrounded by ligands. Furthermore, the amount of serum glycoproteins that galectin-1 binds is increased in breast cancer patients to double that of healthy individuals, this increase is mainly caused by haptoglobin and may reflect increased mechanisms of angiogenesis (85, 86). This may lead to new screening methods for earlier detection of breast cancer. Additionally we found that galectin-3 and -8 binds different sets of glycoproteins in asthma patients compared to healthy individuals and thus are mediating effects of other proteins than they normally are. We report that some galectins, widely expressed as galectin-3, -8 and -9 bind serum glycoproteins well, whereas galectin-1 binds intermediate levels and galectin-2, -4 and -7 that have a more restricted, tissuespecific expression bind serum glycoproteins poorly. One reason for this might be that galectins with a more restrictive tissue expression are adapted to the specific glycoproteins of that tissue e.g. are glycoproteins in the gastrointestinal tract more fucosylated than in serum and galectin-4 that is expressed in the GItract has affinity for fucosylated-GalNAc-ligands.

The serum glycoproteins that galectins bind are immunomodulatory glycoproteins, with e.g. anti-oxidative effects that might be beneficial for the cell. Some of the bound proteins are also involved in delivery of iron as the haptoglobin-haemoglobin-complex, transferrin, hemopexin, or in delivery of lipids like apolipoproteins. It might be advantageous for a cell to bind certain proteins to the cell surface e.g. proteins with antioxidative properties that may

protect the cell-surface especially in an inflammatory environment as immune cells are, or tumor cells that usually evoke a response of chronic inflammation in the surrounding mesenchyme.

The binding of serum proteins depend to a large extent on the number of Nglycan sites on the protein and number of available antenna for galectin binding. Galectins with a more modest serum glycoprotein binding ability like galectin-1, bound proteins as haptoglobin, alpha-2-macroglobulin and Igs that contain several glycosylation sites. Galectin-3, in comparison, was the galectin that bound most types of serum glycoproteins. Gal-3 binds part of transferrin (~15% that have glycan structures available for gal-3 binding).

The glycoprotein-galectin lattice on cell surface, discussed in the background is important for the time a glycoprotein spends on the cell surface. Since galectin-3 binds several serum glycoproteins e.g. transferrin (paper I) and also its receptor (unpublished), galectin-3 may be involved in (1) connecting the ligand and the receptor, (2) in receptor-ligand trafficking after the ligand has bound its receptor on the cell surface, and/or (3) involved in functions the individual glycoproteins mediate e.g. differentiation, cell migration of fibroblasts or growth enhancement. High hexosamine levels, the building blocks of glycans, affect the branching of N-glycoproteins (29, 30), making them more available to galectins.

Even though galectin-3 is widely expressed in the body all cell types may not secrete it, macrophages does however (<u>89</u>) and may contribute to the extracellular, cell surface and subsequently intracellular levels of galectin-3 in cells around an inflammatory site.

In paper II, we chose to study whether this might be of importance in a pathological condition by comparing the amount of bound proteins between healthy persons and breast cancer patients. Since it might be difficult to detect a binding difference of a galectin that already binds well in a healthy condition as

galectin-3 does, we looked at the intermediate binding galectin-1. It was shown to bind more glycoproteins from sera of breast cancer patients than from healthy individuals, reflecting either an increase in haptoglobin levels, a change of glycosylation, or a combination of both. Cytokines, inflammation and cancer are known to cause both increases in acute phase proteins and glycosylation changes. Since common serum proteins bound by galectins, e.g. haptoglobin is known to induce angiogenesis and other bound proteins having other beneficial characteristics, as discussed above, may be beneficial to the tumor and may aid in its survival and growth.

As discussed further below, it is likely that glycosylation changes occur in pathological conditions that affects the binding of galectins. In this paper the approach was to determine that galectin-1 binds more serum glycoproteins in the sera of breast cancer patients which might make it a useful tool of detecting cancer.

In paper III we used the powerful LC-MS/MS mass spectrometry technique to identify and compare galectin-ligand profiles in BAL. Galectin-3 and galectin-8 are two galectins expressed in lungs and with implications in inflammatory mechanisms. They both bind readily detectable levels of serum proteins and are hence good candidates for studying the low protein-concentration-fluid that BAL is and for identifying interaction partners in asthmatic patients. Galectin-3 and -8 binding proteins from bronchoalveolar lavage were identified showing, that apart from the serum glycoproteins identified in paper I, galectins bind proteins specific to the lung. In the mixture of glycoproteins as serum and BAL constitute, galectin-3 and galectin-8 that both have high preference for serum glycoproteins bind different sets. This becomes more obvious when functionally grouping the bound proteins. Although many of the bound proteins overlap, the profiles of galectin-3 and -8 bind different proteins, it is

likely that they may mediate different effects. When comparing the asthma patients with the healthy individuals, profiles are changed both for galectin-3 and -8, i.e. in the BAL of asthma patients, galectins bind other glycoproteins than in healthy individuals. Furthermore, glycosylation must be changed already in the early pathological condition that mild asthma constitutes, because compared to a non-asthmatic state proteins e.g. transferrin was identified as a galectin-3 binding protein both in asthma patients and healthy individuals whereas (using BAL from the same individuals) only transferrin from asthma patients bound galectin-8, i.e. the glycosylation of transferrin has changed from being preferred by galectin-3 to being preferred by both galectin-3 and -8 in the pathological condition.

One of the identified galectin-3 ligands in BAL: macrophage mannose receptor, was only identified in asthma patients. In murine macrophages, macrophage mannose receptor was found to be upregulated after treatment with the Th2 cytokines IL-4 or IL-13 that drives the M2 polarized activation of macrophages implicated in pathologies of fibrosis in e.g. asthma (80, 89). Thus, the connection between galectin-3 and fibrosis is further strengthened by implicating that gal-3 work through the macrophage mannose receptor in the pathology of fibrosis.

The conclusion that glycosylation is changed in asthma patients compared to the normal state is supported by literature concerning both glycosylation in acute and chronic inflammation (60, 74, 75). Galectin-8 and galectin-3 are both expressed in the lung although they are in different areas. It seems, by looking at the ligands of galectin-3 and -8 that the galectins have distinct functions. In the bronchoalveolar environment of chronic inflammation that asthma patients acquired, the profile of galectin-3 and galectin-8 binding proteins have been altered compared to the healthy subjects but the ligand profiles are still not the same between the two different galectins (<u>17, 117, 140, 159, 160</u>).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Since several galectins bind such a wide range of common glycoproteins, it seems important to take this into account when studying galectin functions. Questions raised are: Is the combination of proteins that bind cells important? Are glycosylation changes in individual glycoproteins competing for galectin binding and thus affecting the combination of bound proteins in e.g. a galectin-glycoprotein lattice on the cell surface? The amount of a specific glycoprotein, its number of N-glycans and how many of these that are available for galectin binding together with how many other glycoproteins that are available, are things that have to be considered when studying a galectin-glycoprotein interaction and effects galectins exert. Since serum glycoproteins diffuse out in tissue to approximately half the concentration of that in serum (depending of size of the protein) galectins are most likely always surrounded by a high concentration of serum ligands that will compete with binding to other ligands.

Both the galectin expression of a cell and the glycoprotein composition around the cell (e.g. induced by inflammation) can be altered (91), this may result in a new message to the cell (as discussed in the background, many common serum proteins have more complex roles than generally recognized) delivered through the cell surface galectin-glycoprotein lattice.

As mentioned in the discussion the glycosylation of BAL-proteins is likely to be altered in asthma patients and galectin-1 bound more glycoproteins in sera from breast cancer patients than of healthy individuals, thus galectins might be useful as tools for detection of pathological changes of glycosylation. Both galectin-3 and galectin-8 were found to bind some proteins only in BAL of asthma patients (e.g. the macrophage mannose receptor), this might be useful for clarifying functions of galectins and pathological mechanisms but may also serve as biomarkers of disease. Additionally galectins may be useful in identification of novel biomarkers as they sort out non-glycosylated proteins as albumin and prefer branched N-glycans that are increased in cancer and chronic inflammation ($\underline{70}$).

POPULÄRVETENSKAPLIG SAMMANFATTNING

Galektiner är socker-bindande proteiner, de finns inuti och utanpå kroppens celler och de kan påverka sjukdomstillstånd som inflammation och cancer. Det finns kopplingar mellan dem och de mekanismer som styr kronisk inflammation och cancer bla en ökad cellförnyelse som normalt skulle lett till läkning, men istället kan dessa processer leda till att cancerceller kan föröka sig.

I den här studien har vi undersökt hur galektiner är kopplade till kronisk inflammation och cancer genom att undersöka vilka proteiner i kroppsvätskor de binder, först hos friska människor sedan cancer patienter och till sist astmatiker som har en mild form av kronisk inflammation. I den första delen av studien där friska människor studerades fann vi att det varierar mellan olika galektiner hur väl de binder sockerstrukturer på proteiner i blodomloppet. De sorters galektiner som finns i stora delar av kroppen binder många olika sorters proteiner i blodplasma medan de galektiner som uttrycks på få ställen i kroppen nästan inte binder dem alls. Därefter undersökte vi om det är någon skillnad mellan hur väl galektiner binder plasmaproteiner hos friska personer jämfört med bröstcancer patienter. Vi fann att ett galektin (galektin-1) band ungefär dubbelt så mycket proteiner hos cancersjuka vilket antagligen beror på att det finns mer av vissa proteiner och att sockerstrukturerna på dessa proteiner är förändrade så att galektiner binder bättre till dem.

I sköljvätska från friska människors och astmatikers luftvägar fann vi att olika galektiner inte binder till samma proteiner vilket antagligen beror på att galektinerna inte medverkar i exakt samma biologiska skeenden. Vidare fann vi att de inte heller binder samma proteiner hos friska personer som de gör hos astmatiker, det betyder troligen att sockerstrukturerna på proteinerna är förändrade även i detta sjukdomstillstånd och att galektiner medverkar i andra biologiska skeenden i astmatikers luftvägar än de gör i friska människors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge all the amiable and helpful people around me:

My supervisor Professor **Hakon Leffler** for all encouragement, support and scientific guidance you have given me on galectins and for your sense of humour. My co-supervisor Professor **Anders Malmström** for your encouragement and good scientific advice.

Professors **Håkan Ohlsson** and **Mårten Fernö** at the department of Oncology, for enthusiasm and providing your expertise in the field of cancer and **Anita Schmidt-Casslén** for compiling patient-sample information.

Co-authors: **Gunilla Westergren-Thorsson**, head of Lung Biology research group, and **Kristian Nihlberg** for nice scientific exchange and providing excellent knowledge of asthma and fibroblasts, **Johan Malmström** for your expertise in mass-spectrometry and a nice collaboration.

Co-authors Professor **Göran Larsson**, **Johan Nilsson** and **Adnan Halim** at the department of chlinical chemistry and transfusion medicine for nice collaborations in the glyco-field.

The people in my research group; **Barbro, Emma** and **Michael** for all laboratory help, advice, scientific exchange and your good company! Former members of the group: **Yuning, Inga** and **Maria** for good company and help in the lab. **Ulf Nilsson** and the former and present members of his group: **Pernilla, Johan, Christopher, Ian** and all the others for nice lab-meetings and excursions.

Stina Oredsson and her group, for introducing me to cell-culture techniques.

Ola Hansson for help running 2D-gels. **Anna Karlsson** for neutrophilic knowledge. **Martin Ohlsson** for lending kits and equipment. **Gittan, Gertrud,**

Eva, Majlis, and **Anki**, for all kinds of laboratory help. All **GLIBS** people for fun meetings.

The members of the **Hamlet group** for nice company at BMC and Blood and Defence meetings. **Annika** for excellent help taking blood samples and the helpful people in the Allergy and Immunology-laboratories for measuring of Igs. **Liselotte** and other people at Swegene for help with mass-spectrometry data.

I would like to thank my friends for good times and encouragement:

Magdalena and Pål, Amelie and Anders

Emma, Palle, Hedvig, Jenny, Jenny, Josefin, Erik and Ulrika,

Stig and **Birgitta** for nice dinners and all your help with the house. -as well as all other friends, relatives and supporters.

Last but not least I would like to thank my family: **Henrik**, **Mamma**, **Pappa**, **Pauline** and **Magnus** for support, encouragement and love.

-Cecilia Cederfur, April 28, 2008

- 1. Lowe JB, Marth JD. A genetic approach to Mammalian glycan function. Annu Rev Biochem 2003;72:643-91.
- 2. Rudd PM, Elliott T, Cresswell P, Wilson IA, Dwek RA. Glycosylation and the immune system. Science 2001;291:2370-6.
- 3. Ohtsubo K, Marth JD. Glycosylation in cellular mechanisms of health and disease. Cell 2006;126:855-67.
- 4. Lowe JB. Glycan-dependent leukocyte adhesion and recruitment in inflammation. Curr Opin Cell Biol 2003;15:531-8.
- 5. Leffler H, editor. Special Issue on Galectins. Glycoconjugate Journal 2004;19:433-638.
- 6. Leffler H, Carlsson S, Hedlund M, Qian Y, Poirier F. Introduction to galectins. Glycoconj J 2004;19:433-40.
- 7. Brewer CF, Miceli MC, Baum LG. Clusters, bundles, arrays and lattices: novel mechanisms for lectin-saccharide-mediated cellular interactions. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2002;12:616-23.
- 8. Lahm H, Andre S, Hoeflich A, Kaltner H, Siebert HC, Sordat B, et al. Tumor galectinology: insights into the complex network of a family of endogenous lectins. Glycoconj J 2004;20:227-38.
- 9. Hirashima M, Kashio Y, Nishi N, Yamauchi A, Imaizumi TA, Kageshita T, et al. Galectin-9 in physiological and pathological conditions. Glycoconj J 2004;19:593-600.
- 10. Huflejt ME, Leffler H. Galectin-4 in normal tissues and cancer. Glycoconj J 2004;20:247-55.
- 11. Poirier F. Roles of galectins in vivo. Biochem Soc Symp 2002:95-103.
- 12. Almkvist J, Karlsson A. Galectins as inflammatory mediators. Glycoconj J 2004;19:575-81.
- 13. Dumic J, Dabelic S, Flogel M. Galectin-3: an open-ended story. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006;1760:616-35.
- Ilarregui JM, Bianco GA, Toscano MA, Rabinovich GA. The coming of age of galectins as immunomodulatory agents: impact of these carbohydrate binding proteins in T cell physiology and chronic inflammatory disorders. Ann Rheum Dis 2005;64 Suppl 4:iv96-103.
- 15. Liu FT, Rabinovich GA. Galectins as modulators of tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2005;5:29-41.
- Grassadonia A, Tinari N, Iurisci I, Piccolo E, Cumashi A, Innominato P, et al. 90K (Mac-2 BP) and galectins in tumor progression and metastasis. Glycoconj J 2004;19:551-6.
- 17. Delacour D, Greb C, Koch A, Salomonsson E, Leffler H, Le Bivic A, Jacob R. Apical sorting by galectin-3-dependent glycoprotein clustering. Traffic 2007;8:379-88.
- 18. Delacour D, Gouyer V, Zanetta JP, Drobecq H, Leteurtre E, Grard G, et al. Galectin-4 and sulfatides in apical membrane trafficking in enterocyte-like cells. J Cell Biol 2005;169:491-501.
- Delacour D, Koch A, Ackermann W, Eude-Le Parco I, Elsasser HP, Poirier F, Jacob R. Loss of galectin-3 impairs membrane polarisation of mouse enterocytes in vivo. J Cell Sci 2008;121:458-65.
- 20. Rabinovich GA, Liu FT, Hirashima M, Anderson A. An emerging role for galectins in tuning the immune response: lessons from experimental models of inflammatory disease, autoimmunity and cancer. Scand J Immunol 2007;66:143-58.

- Baptiste TA, James A, Saria M, Ochieng J. Mechano-transduction mediated secretion and uptake of galectin-3 in breast carcinoma cells: implications in the extracellular functions of the lectin. Exp Cell Res 2007;313:652-64.
- 22. Nieminen J, Kuno A, Hirabayashi J, Sato S. Visualization of galectin-3 oligomerization on the surface of neutrophils and endothelial cells using fluorescence resonance energy transfer. J Biol Chem 2007;282:1374-83.
- 23. Ahmad N, Gabius HJ, Andre S, Kaltner H, Sabesan S, Roy R, et al. Galectin-3 precipitates as a pentamer with synthetic multivalent carbohydrates and forms heterogeneous cross-linked complexes. J Biol Chem 2004;279:10841-7.
- 24. Demetriou M, Granovsky M, Quaggin S, Dennis JW. Negative regulation of T-cell activation and autoimmunity by Mgat5 N-glycosylation. Nature 2001;409:733-9.
- 25. Bresalier RS, Byrd JC, Tessler D, Lebel J, Koomen J, Hawke D, et al. A circulating ligand for galectin-3 is a haptoglobin-related glycoprotein elevated in individuals with colon cancer. Gastroenterology 2004;127:741-8.
- 26. Cederfur C, Salomonsson E, Nilsson J, Halim A, Oberg CT, Larson G, et al. Different affinity of galectins for human serum glycoproteins: galectin-3 binds many protease inhibitors and acute phase proteins. Glycobiology 2008.
- 27. Rao SP, Wang Z, Zuberi RI, Sikora L, Bahaie NS, Zuraw BL, et al. Galectin-3 functions as an adhesion molecule to support eosinophil rolling and adhesion under conditions of flow. J Immunol 2007;179:7800-7.
- Yamamoto H, Nishi N, Shoji H, Itoh A, Lu LH, Hirashima M, Nakamura T. Induction of cell adhesion by galectin-8 and its target molecules in jurkat T-cells. J Biochem 2008;143:311-24.
- Lau KS, Partridge EA, Grigorian A, Silvescu CI, Reinhold VN, Demetriou M, Dennis JW. Complex N-glycan number and degree of branching cooperate to regulate cell proliferation and differentiation. Cell 2007;129:123-34.
- 30. Stanley P. A method to the madness of N-glycan complexity? Cell 2007;129:27-9.
- Cabrera PV, Amano M, Mitoma J, Chan J, Said J, Fukuda M, Baum LG. Haploinsufficiency of C2GnT-I glycosyltransferase renders T lymphoma cells resistant to cell death. Blood 2006;108:2399-406.
- 32. Hernandez JD, Nguyen JT, He J, Wang W, Ardman B, Green JM, et al. Galectin-1 binds different CD43 glycoforms to cluster CD43 and regulate T cell death. J Immunol 2006;177:5328-36.
- 33. Leppanen A, Stowell S, Blixt O, Cummings RD. Dimeric galectin-1 binds with high affinity to alpha2,3-sialylated and non-sialylated terminal N-acetyllactosamine units on surface-bound extended glycans. J Biol Chem 2005;280:5549-62.
- 34. Patnaik SK, Potvin B, Carlsson S, Sturm D, Leffler H, Stanley P. Complex N-glycans are the major ligands for galectin-1, -3, and -8 on Chinese hamster ovary cells. Glycobiology 2006;16:305-17.
- Stillman BN, Hsu DK, Pang M, Brewer CF, Johnson P, Liu FT, Baum LG. Galectin-3 and galectin-1 bind distinct cell surface glycoprotein receptors to induce T cell death. J Immunol 2006;176:778-89.
- Fry SA, Steen PE, Royle L, Wormald MR, Leathem AJ, Opdenakker G, et al. Cancer-Associated Glycoforms of Gelatinase B Exhibit a Decreased Level of Binding to Galectin-3. Biochemistry 2006;45:15249-58.
- Toscano MA, Bianco GA, Ilarregui JM, Croci DO, Correale J, Hernandez JD, et al. Differential glycosylation of TH1, TH2 and TH-17 effector cells selectively regulates susceptibility to cell death. Nat Immunol 2007;8:825-34.
- 38. Rabinovich GA, Toscano MA, Jackson SS, Vasta GR. Functions of cell surface galectin-glycoprotein lattices. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2007;17:513-20.

- 39. Rabinovich GA, Baum LG, Tinari N, Paganelli R, Natoli C, Liu FT, Iacobelli S. Galectins and their ligands: amplifiers, silencers or tuners of the inflammatory response? Trends Immunol 2002;23:313-20.
- 40. Blaser C, Kaufmann M, Muller C, Zimmermann C, Wells V, Mallucci L, Pircher H. Beta-galactoside-binding protein secreted by activated T cells inhibits antigen-induced proliferation of T cells. Eur J Immunol 1998;28:2311-9.
- Rabinovich GA, Iglesias MM, Modesti NM, Castagna LF, Wolfenstein-Todel C, Riera CM, Sotomayor CE. Activated rat macrophages produce a galectin-1-like protein that induces apoptosis of T cells: biochemical and functional characterization. J Immunol 1998;160:4831-40.
- 42. Zuniga E, Rabinovich GA, Iglesias MM, Gruppi A. Regulated expression of galectin-1 during B-cell activation and implications for T-cell apoptosis. J Leukoc Biol 2001;70:73-9.
- 43. Thijssen VL, Hulsmans S, Griffioen AW. The galectin profile of the endothelium: altered expression and localization in activated and tumor endothelial cells. Am J Pathol 2008;172:545-53.
- 44. Thijssen VL, Poirier F, Baum LG, Griffioen AW. Galectins in the tumor endothelium; opportunities for combined cancer therapy. Blood 2007.
- 45. Rabinovich GA, Rubinstein N, Toscano MA, eds. Role of galectins in inflammatory and immunomodulatory processes, 2002:274-84.pp.
- 46. Hirashima M. Ecalectin/galectin-9, a novel eosinophil chemoattractant: its function and production. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2000;122:6-9.
- 47. Hadari YR, Arbel-Goren R, Levy Y, Amsterdam A, Alon R, Zakut R, Zick Y. Galectin-8 binding to integrins inhibits cell adhesion and induces apoptosis. J Cell Sci 2000;113:2385-97.
- 48. Caulet-Maugendre S, Birolleau S, Corbineau H, Bassen R, Desrues B, Bidon N, et al. Immunohistochemical expression of the intracellular component of galectin-8 in squamous cell metaplasia of the bronchial epithelium in neoplastic and benign processes. Pathol Res Pract 2001;197:797-801.
- 49. Gray CA, Adelson DL, Bazer FW, Burghardt RC, Meeusen EN, Spencer TE. Discovery and characterization of an epithelial-specific galectin in the endometrium that forms crystals in the trophectoderm. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:7982-7.
- 50. Rabinovich GA, Rubinstein N, Fainboim L. Unlocking the secrets of galectins: a challenge at the frontier of glyco-immunology. J Leukoc Biol 2002;71:741-52.
- 51. Matsumoto R, Matsumoto H, Seki M, Hata M, Asano Y, Kanegasaki S, et al. Human ecalectin, a variant of human galectin-9, is a novel eosinophil chemoattractant produced by T lymphocytes. J Biol Chem 1998;273:16976-84.
- 52. Nagae N, Nishi N, Nakamura-Tsuruta S, Hirabayashi J, Wakatsuki SK, R. Structural analysis of the human galectin-9 N-terminal carbohydrate recognition domain reveals unexpected properties that differ from the mouse orthologue. Journal of Molecular Biology 2007;E-pub ahead of print.
- Zhuang T, Lee HS, Imperiali B, Prestegard JH. Structure Determination of a Galectin-3 - Carbohydrate Complex Using Paramagnetism-based NMR Constraints. Protein Sci 2008.
- 54. Prydz K, Dick G, Tveit H. How many ways through the Golgi maze? Traffic 2008;9:299-304.
- 55. Turner GA. N-glycosylation of serum proteins in disease and its investigation using lectins. Clin Chim Acta 1992;208:149-71.
- 56. Freeze HH. Genetic defects in the human glycome. Nat Rev Genet 2006;7:537-51.

- 57. Varki A, Cummings R, Esko J, Freeze H, Hart G, Marth J. Essentials of Glycobiology. 1st ed. ed: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1999.
- 58. Kamiya Y, Kamiya D, Yamamoto K, Nyfeler B, Hauri HP, Kato K. Molecular basis of sugar recognition by the human L-type lectins ERGIC-53, VIPL, and VIP36. J Biol Chem 2008;283:1857-61.
- 59. Velloso LM, Svensson K, Pettersson RF, Lindqvist Y. The crystal structure of the carbohydrate-recognition domain of the glycoprotein sorting receptor p58/ERGIC-53 reveals an unpredicted metal-binding site and conformational changes associated with calcium ion binding. J Mol Biol 2003;334:845-51.
- 60. Fujimura T, Shinohara Y, Tissot B, Pang PC, Kurogochi M, Saito S, et al. Glycosylation status of haptoglobin in sera of patients with prostate cancer vs. benign prostate disease or normal subjects. Int J Cancer 2008;122:39-49.
- 61. He Z, Aristoteli LP, Kritharides L, Garner B. HPLC analysis of discrete haptoglobin isoform N-linked oligosaccharides following 2D-PAGE isolation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;343:496-503.
- 62. Brewer CF. Binding and cross-linking properties of galectins. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1572:255-62.
- 63. Yu LG, Andrews N, Zhao Q, McKean D, Williams JF, Connor LJ, et al. Galectin-3 interaction with Thomsen-Friedenreich disaccharide on cancer-associated MUC1 causes increased cancer cell endothelial adhesion. J Biol Chem 2007;282:773-81.
- 64. Danielsen EM, Hansen GH. Lipid rafts in epithelial brush borders: atypical membrane microdomains with specialized functions. Biochim Biophys Acta 2003;1617:1-9.
- 65. Braccia A, Villani M, Immerdal L, Niels-Christiansen LL, Nystrom BT, Hansen GH, Danielsen EM. Microvillar membrane microdomains exist at physiological temperature. Role of galectin-4 as lipid raft stabilizer revealed by "superrafts". J Biol Chem 2003;278:15679-84.
- 66. Lee RT, Lee YC. Affinity enhancement by multivalent lectin-carbohydrate interaction. Glycoconj J 2000;17:543-51.
- 67. Carlsson S, Oberg CT, Carlsson MC, Sundin A, Nilsson UJ, Smith D, et al. Affinity of galectin-8 and its carbohydrate recognition domains for ligands in solution and at the cell surface. Glycobiology 2007;17:663-76.
- 68. Anderson NL, Anderson NG. The human plasma proteome: history, character, and diagnostic prospects. Mol Cell Proteomics 2002;1:845-67.
- 69. Fernlund P, Fex G, Hanson A, Stenflo J, Lundh B. Laurells Klinisk kemi i praktisk medicin. 6th ed. ed. Lund: Studentlitteratur, 1991.
- 70. Nakano M, Nakagawa T, Ito T, Kitada T, Hijioka T, Kasahara A, et al. Site-specific analysis of N-glycans on haptoglobin in sera of patients with pancreatic cancer: a novel approach for the development of tumor markers. Int J Cancer 2008;122:2301-9.
- Kita Y, Miura Y, Furukawa J, Nakano M, Shinohara Y, Ohno M, et al. Quantitative glycomics of human whole serum glycoproteins based on the standardized protocol for liberating N-glycans. Mol Cell Proteomics 2007;6:1437-45.
- 72. Anuradha, Jayakumari N, Appukuttan PS. IgA1 desialylated by microbial neuraminidase forms immune complex with naturally occurring anti-T antibody in human serum. Immunol Lett 2008;115:90-7.
- Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase Proteins Encyclopedia of life sciences, Vol.: John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- Higai K, Aoki Y, Azuma Y, Matsumoto K. Glycosylation of site-specific glycans of alpha1-acid glycoprotein and alterations in acute and chronic inflammation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2005;1725:128-35.

- 75. Saldova R, Royle L, Radcliffe CM, Hamid UM, Evans R, Arnold JN, et al. Ovarian Cancer is Associated With Changes in Glycosylation in Both Acute-Phase Proteins and IgG. Glycobiology 2007.
- 76. Hochepied T, Berger FG, Baumann H, Libert C. Alpha(1)-acid glycoprotein: an acute phase protein with inflammatory and immunomodulating properties. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2003;14:25-34.
- Gunnarsson P, Levander L, Pahlsson P, Grenegard M. The acute-phase protein alpha 1-acid glycoprotein (AGP) induces rises in cytosolic Ca2+ in neutrophil granulocytes via sialic acid binding immunoglobulin-like lectins (siglecs). Faseb J 2007;21:4059-69.
- 78. Granfeldt D, Harbecke O, Bjorstad A, Karlsson A, Dahlgren C. Neutrophil Secretion Induced by an Intracellular Ca(2+) Rise and Followed by Whole-Cell Patch-Clamp Recordings Occurs Without any Selective Mobilization of Different Granule Populations. J Biomed Biotechnol 2006;2006:97803.
- 79. Bonacci GR, Caceres LC, Sanchez MC, Chiabrando GA. Activated alpha(2)macroglobulin induces cell proliferation and mitogen-activated protein kinase activation by LRP-1 in the J774 macrophage-derived cell line. Arch Biochem Biophys 2007;460:100-6.
- MacKinnon AC, Farnworth SL, Hodkinson PS, Henderson NC, Atkinson KM, Leffler H, et al. Regulation of alternative macrophage activation by galectin-3. J Immunol 2008;180:2650-8.
- 81. Rauh MJ, Ho V, Pereira C, Sham A, Sly LM, Lam V, et al. SHIP represses the generation of alternatively activated macrophages. Immunity 2005;23:361-74.
- 82. Biswas SK, Gangi L, Paul S, Schioppa T, Saccani A, Sironi M, et al. A distinct and unique transcriptional program expressed by tumor-associated macrophages (defective NF-kappaB and enhanced IRF-3/STAT1 activation). Blood 2006;107:2112-22.
- 83. Arandjelovic S, Van Sant CL, Gonias SL. Limited mutations in full-length tetrameric human alpha2-macroglobulin abrogate binding of platelet-derived growth factor-BB and transforming growth factor-beta1. J Biol Chem 2006;281:17061-8.
- 84. Wassell J. Haptoglobin: function and polymorphism. Clin Lab 2000;46:547-52.
- Cid MC, Grant DS, Hoffman GS, Auerbach R, Fauci AS, Kleinman HK. Identification of haptoglobin as an angiogenic factor in sera from patients with systemic vasculitis. J Clin Invest 1993;91:977-85.
- 86. de Kleijn DP, Smeets MB, Kemmeren PP, Lim SK, Van Middelaar BJ, Velema E, et al. Acute-phase protein haptoglobin is a cell migration factor involved in arterial restructuring. Faseb J 2002;16:1123-5.
- 87. Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of haptoglobin polymorphism in humans. Clin Chem 1996;42:1589-600.
- Larsen K, Macleod D, Nihlberg K, Gurcan E, Bjermer L, Marko-Varga G, Westergren-Thorsson G. Specific haptoglobin expression in bronchoalveolar lavage during differentiation of circulating fibroblast progenitor cells in mild asthma. J Proteome Res 2006;5:1479-83.
- Henderson NC, Mackinnon AC, Farnworth SL, Kipari T, Haslett C, Iredale JP, et al. Galectin-3 expression and secretion links macrophages to the promotion of renal fibrosis. Am J Pathol 2008;172:288-98.
- Henderson NC, Mackinnon AC, Farnworth SL, Poirier F, Russo FP, Iredale JP, et al. Galectin-3 regulates myofibroblast activation and hepatic fibrosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103:5060-5.
- 91. Nishi Y, Sano H, Kawashima T, Okada T, Kuroda T, Kikkawa K, et al. Role of galectin-3 in human pulmonary fibrosis. Allergol Int 2007;56:57-65.

- 92. Carcamo C, Pardo E, Oyanadel C, Bravo-Zehnder M, Bull P, Caceres M, et al. Galectin-8 binds specific beta1 integrins and induces polarized spreading highlighted by asymmetric lamellipodia in Jurkat T cells. Exp Cell Res 2006;312:374-86.
- 93. Fernandez GC, Ilarregui JM, Rubel CJ, Toscano MA, Gomez SA, Beigier Bompadre M, et al. Galectin-3 and soluble fibrinogen act in concert to modulate neutrophil activation and survival: involvement of alternative MAPK pathways. Glycobiology 2005;15:519-27.
- 94. Almkvist J, Dahlgren C, Leffler H, Karlsson A. Activation of the neutrophil nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase by galectin-1. J Immunol 2002;168:4034-41.
- 95. Almkvist J, Faldt J, Dahlgren C, Leffler H, Karlsson A. Lipopolysaccharide-induced gelatinase granule mobilization primes neutrophils for activation by galectin-3 and formylmethionyl-Leu-Phe. Infect Immun 2001;69:832-7.
- 96. Villarreal G, Zagorski J, Wahl S. Inflammation: Acute Encyclopedia of life sciences
- Vol.: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd : April 2001 2001.
- 97. Mölne J, Wold A. Inflammation. 1 ed ed. Stockholm: Liber, 2007.
- 98. Libby P. Inflammatory mechanisms: the molecular basis of inflammation and disease. Nutr Rev 2007;65:S140-6.
- 99. Lentsch AB, Ward PA. Regulation of inflammatory vascular damage. J Pathol 2000;190:343-8.
- Soehnlein O, Kenne E, Rotzius P, Eriksson EE, Lindbom L. Neutrophil secretion products regulate anti-bacterial activity in monocytes and macrophages. Clin Exp Immunol 2008;151:139-45.
- 101. Holt PG, Strickland DH, Wikstrom ME, Jahnsen FL. Regulation of immunological homeostasis in the respiratory tract. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8:142-52.
- 102. Meziani F, Tesse A, Andriantsitohaina R. Microparticles are vectors of paradoxical information in vascular cells including the endothelium: role in health and diseases. Pharmacol Rep 2008;60:75-84.
- Kumar RK, Wakefield D. Inflammation: Chronic. Encyclopedia of life sciences, Vol.: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2001.
- 104. Wynn TA. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. J Pathol 2008;214:199-210.
- 105. Allavena P, Sica A, Solinas G, Porta C, Mantovani A. The inflammatory microenvironment in tumor progression: The role of tumor-associated macrophages. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2008;66:1-9.
- Salvi SS, Sampson AP, Holgate ST. Asthma Encyclopedia of life sciences, Vol.: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2001.
- 107. Yoon J, Terada A, Kita H. CD66b regulates adhesion and activation of human eosinophils. J Immunol 2007;179:8454-62.
- 108. Bjermer L. Time for a paradigm shift in asthma treatment: from relieving bronchospasm to controlling systemic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120:1269-75.
- Bjermer L, Diamant Z. Current and emerging nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory therapies targeting specific mechanisms in asthma and allergy. Treat Respir Med 2004;3:235-46.
- 110. Fernandes PD, Landgraf RG, Britto LR, Jancar S. Production of nitric oxide by airways neutrophils in the initial phase of murine asthma. Int Immunopharmacol 2007;7:96-102.
- 111. Tang ML, Wilson JW, Stewart AG, Royce SG. Airway remodelling in asthma: current understanding and implications for future therapies. Pharmacol Ther 2006;112:474-88.

- 112. Matsushita N, Nishi N, Seki M, Matsumoto R, Kuwabara I, Liu FT, et al. Requirement of divalent galactoside-binding activity of ecalectin/galectin-9 for eosinophil chemoattraction. J Biol Chem 2000;275:8355-60.
- 113. Zhu C, Anderson AC, Schubart A, Xiong H, Imitola J, Khoury SJ, et al. The Tim-3 ligand galectin-9 negatively regulates T helper type 1 immunity. Nat Immunol 2005;6:1245-52.
- 114. Demotte N, Stroobant V, Courtoy PJ, Van Der Smissen P, Colau D, Luescher IF, et al. Restoring the association of the T cell receptor with CD8 reverses anergy in human tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. Immunity 2008;28:414-24.
- 115. Cooper D, Norling LV, Perretti M. Novel insights into the inhibitory effects of Galectin-1 on neutrophil recruitment under flow. J Leukoc Biol 2008.
- 116. Eshkar Sebban L, Ronen D, Levartovsky D, Elkayam O, Caspi D, Aamar S, et al. The involvement of CD44 and its novel ligand galectin-8 in apoptotic regulation of autoimmune inflammation. J Immunol 2007;179:1225-35.
- Nishi N, Shoji H, Seki M, Itoh A, Miyanaka H, Yuube K, et al. Galectin-8 modulates neutrophil function via interaction with integrin alphaM. Glycobiology 2003;13:755-63.
- Chabot S, Kashio Y, Seki M, Shirato Y, Nakamura K, Nishi N, et al. Regulation of galectin-9 expression and release in Jurkat T cell line cells. Glycobiology, Vol. 12, 2002:111-8.
- 119. Ideo H, Seko A, Yamashita K. Galectin-4 binds to sulfated glycosphingolipids and carcinoembryonic antigen in patches on the cell surface of human colon adenocarcinoma cells. J Biol Chem 2005;280:4730-7.
- 120. Bidon N, Brichory F, Hanash S, Bourguet P, Dazord L, Le Pennec JP. Two messenger RNAs and five isoforms for Po66-CBP, a galectin-8 homolog in a human lung carcinoma cell line. Gene, Vol. 274, 2001:253-62.
- 121. Danguy A, Camby I, Kiss R. Galectins and cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1572:285-93.
- 122. John CM, Leffler H, Kahl-Knutsson B, Svensson I, Jarvis GA. Truncated galectin-3 inhibits tumor growth and metastasis in orthotopic nude mouse model of human breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2003;9:2374-83.
- 123. Strik HM, Deininger MH, Frank B, Schluesener HJ, Meyermann R. Galectin-3: cellular distribution and correlation with WHO-grade in human gliomas. J Neurooncol 2001;53:13-20.
- 124. Johansson M, Denardo DG, Coussens LM. Polarized immune responses differentially regulate cancer development. Immunol Rev 2008;222:145-54.
- 125. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 2000;100:57-70.
- 126. Narod SA. Modifiers of risk of hereditary breast and ovarian cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2002;2:113-23.
- 127. DeNardo DG, Coussens LM. Inflammation and breast cancer. Balancing immune response: crosstalk between adaptive and innate immune cells during breast cancer progression. Breast Cancer Res 2007;9:212.
- 128. Tlsty TD, Coussens LM. Tumor stroma and regulation of cancer development. Annu Rev Pathol 2006;1:119-50.
- 129. Itzkowitz SH, Yuan M, Fukushi Y, Palekar A, Phelps PC, Shamsuddin AM, et al. Lewisx- and sialylated Lewisx-related antigen expression in human malignant and nonmalignant colonic tissues. Cancer Res 1986;46:2627-32.
- Demetriou M, Nabi IR, Coppolino M, Dedhar S, Dennis JW. Reduced contactinhibition and substratum adhesion in epithelial cells expressing GlcNAc-transferase V. J Cell Biol 1995;130:383-92.

- 131. Przybylo M, Martuszewska D, Pochec E, Hoja-Lukowicz D, Litynska A. Identification of proteins bearing beta1-6 branched N-glycans in human melanoma cell lines from different progression stages by tandem mass spectrometry analysis. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1770:1427-35.
- Guo HB, Zhang Y, Chen HL. Relationship between metastasis-associated phenotypes and N-glycan structure of surface glycoproteins in human hepatocarcinoma cells. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2001;127:231-6.
- 133. Fernandes B, Sagman U, Auger M, Demetrio M, Dennis JW. Beta 1-6 branched oligosaccharides as a marker of tumor progression in human breast and colon neoplasia. Cancer Res 1991;51:718-23.
- Lagana A, Goetz JG, Cheung P, Raz A, Dennis JW, Nabi IR. Galectin binding to Mgat5-modified N-glycans regulates fibronectin matrix remodeling in tumor cells. Mol Cell Biol 2006;26:3181-93.
- 135. Lajoie P, Partridge EA, Guay G, Goetz JG, Pawling J, Lagana A, et al. Plasma membrane domain organization regulates EGFR signaling in tumor cells. J Cell Biol 2007;179:341-56.
- 136. Mendelsohn R, Cheung P, Berger L, Partridge E, Lau K, Datti A, et al. Complex Nglycan and metabolic control in tumor cells. Cancer Res 2007;67:9771-80.
- 137. Jiang J, Chen X, Shen J, Wei Y, Wu T, Yang Y, et al. Beta1,4-galactosyltransferase V functions as a positive growth regulator in glioma. J Biol Chem 2006;281:9482-9.
- 138. Leppa S, Heino J, Jalkanen M. Increased glycosylation of beta 1 integrins affects the interaction of transformed S115 mammary epithelial cells with laminin-1. Cell Growth Differ 1995;6:853-61.
- Partridge EA, Le Roy C, Di Guglielmo GM, Pawling J, Cheung P, Granovsky M, et al. Regulation of cytokine receptors by Golgi N-glycan processing and endocytosis. Science 2004;306:120-4.
- Levy Y, Arbel-Goren R, Hadari YR, Eshhar S, Ronen D, Elhanany E, et al. Galectin-8 functions as a matricellular modulator of cell adhesion. J Biol Chem 2001;276:31285-95.
- 141. Saussez S, Lorfevre F, Lequeux T, Laurent G, Chantrain G, Vertongen F, et al. The determination of the levels of circulating galectin-1 and -3 in HNSCC patients could be used to monitor tumor progression and/or responses to therapy. Oral Oncol 2007.
- 142. Kreunin P, Yoo C, Urquidi V, Lubman DM, Goodison S. Proteomic profiling identifies breast tumor metastasis-associated factors in an isogenic model. Proteomics 2007;7:299-312.
- 143. Jung EJ, Moon HG, Cho BI, Jeong CY, Joo YT, Lee YJ, et al. Galectin-1 expression in cancer-associated stromal cells correlates tumor invasiveness and tumor progression in breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2007;120:2331-8.
- 144. Rippe B, Haraldsson B. Transport of macromolecules across microvascular walls: the two-pore theory. Physiol Rev 1994;74:163-219.
- 145. Jacobs JA, De Brauwer E. BAL fluid cytology in the assessment of infectious lung disease. Hosp Med 1999;60:550-5.
- 146. Tiroke AH, Bewig B, Haverich A. Bronchoalveolar lavage in lung transplantation. State of the art. Clin Transplant 1999;13:131-57.
- Griese M. Pulmonary surfactant in health and human lung diseases: state of the art. Eur Respir J 1999;13:1455-76.
- 148. Moonens F, Liesnard C, Brancart F, Van Vooren JP, Serruys E. Rapid simple and nested polymerase chain reaction for the diagnosis of Pneumocystis carinii pneumonia. Scand J Infect Dis 1995;27:358-62.
REFERENCES

- 149. Wunderlich S, Gruh I, Winkler ME, Beier J, Radtke K, Schmiedl A, et al. Type II pneumocyte-restricted green fluorescent protein expression after lentiviral transduction of lung epithelial cells. Hum Gene Ther 2008;19:39-52.
- 150. Plymoth A, Lofdahl CG, Ekberg-Jansson A, Dahlback M, Lindberg H, Fehniger TE, Marko-Varga G. Human bronchoalveolar lavage: biofluid analysis with special emphasis on sample preparation. Proteomics 2003;3:962-72.
- 151. Plymoth A, Yang Z, Lofdahl CG, Ekberg-Jansson A, Dahlback M, Fehniger TE, et al. Rapid proteome analysis of bronchoalveolar lavage samples of lifelong smokers and never-smokers by micro-scale liquid chromatography and mass spectrometry. Clin Chem 2006;52:671-9.
- 152. Hirabayashi J, Kasai K. Separation technologies for glycomics. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2002;771:67-87.
- 153. Aebersold R, Mann M. Mass spectrometry-based proteomics. Nature 2003;422:198-207.
- 154. Fu X, Gharib SA, Green PS, Aitken ML, Frazer DA, Park DR, et al. Spectral index for assessment of differential protein expression in shotgun proteomics. J Proteome Res 2008;7:845-54.
- 155. Mueller LN, Brusniak MY, Mani DR, Aebersold R. An assessment of software solutions for the analysis of mass spectrometry based quantitative proteomics data. J Proteome Res 2008;7:51-61.
- 156. MacLean B, Eng JK, Beavis RC, McIntosh M. General framework for developing and evaluating database scoring algorithms using the TANDEM search engine. Bioinformatics 2006;22:2830-2.
- 157. Keller A, Eng J, Zhang N, Li XJ, Aebersold R. A uniform proteomics MS/MS analysis platform utilizing open XML file formats. Mol Syst Biol 2005;1:2005 0017.
- 158. Washburn MP, Wolters D, Yates JR, 3rd. Large-scale analysis of the yeast proteome by multidimensional protein identification technology. Nat Biotechnol 2001;19:242-7.
- Levy Y, Auslender S, Eisenstein M, Vidavski RR, Ronen D, Bershadsky AD, Zick Y. It Depends on the hinge: A structure-Functional Analysis of Galectin-8, a tandemrepeat type lectin. Glycobiology 2006.
- Levy Y, Ronen D, Bershadsky AD, Zick Y. Sustained induction of ERK, protein kinase B, and p70 S6 kinase regulates cell spreading and formation of F-actin microspikes upon ligation of integrins by galectin-8, a mammalian lectin. J Biol Chem 2003;278:14533-42.